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Thursday, March 7, 2019
--- On commencing at 9:31 a.m.

MR. JANIGAN:  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  My name is Michael Janigan.  I am the presiding member of this hearing.  With me is Emad Elsayed, who is also an OEB member.  We are here today to determine the cost-of-service application filed by Energy+ on April 30th, 2018 for approval of rates effective January 2019.

A list of issues was issued on October the 31st, 2018 in procedural order 4.  The applicant and the intervening parties have agreed upon a partial settlement proposal, which will be presented by the applicant at the commencement of this proceeding.

I believe the parties have reviewed a hearing schedule and an order of cross-examination.  And that reflects the issues upon which no settlement was reached.

Can I now have appearances, please.
Appearances:


MR. VELLONE:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, Panel.  John Vellone, counsel for the applicant, Energy+.  On my right is my articling student, Gian Minichini.  Gian will be attempting to navigate us through the electronic version of the evidence on the screen today.  And to my left is Umar Waqas from Energy+.

MR. JANIGAN:  Good morning.

MS. NEWLAND:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman, Helen Newland for Toyota Motor Manufacturing Canada Inc., which we will refer to either as TMMC or Toyota.  To my right is Melody Collis and Stephanie Pollard of Toyota.  To Stephanie's right is Mr. Jeffry Pollock of Pollock Incorporated.  And to Jeffry's right is Bill Fantin, also of Toyota.

MR. JANIGAN:  Good morning, all.

MS. NEWLAND:  Pardon me, sir -- and I neglected to enter an appearance of my colleague and articling student, Dennis Wong, who is sitting behind me.

MR. JANIGAN:  Good morning as well.

MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, Panel.  Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MR. JANIGAN:  Good morning, Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. GARNER:  Mark Garner with the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition, and joining me is Mr. Bill Harper.

MR. JANIGAN:  Good morning.

MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan, consultant to the Consumers Council of Canada.

MR. JANIGAN:  Good morning, Ms. Girvan.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Good morning, Mr. Chair and Dr. Elsayed, Michael Engelberg, counsel to Hydro One Networks Inc., and with me is Henry André, director in regulatory affairs of Hydro One Networks.

MR. JANIGAN:  Good morning.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, Ljuba Djurdjevic, legal counsel for OEB staff, and with me on behalf of staff to my right is Shuo Zhang.

MR. JANIGAN:  Good morning as well.  First of all, are there any preliminary matters?
Preliminary Matters:


MR. VELLONE:  The applicant has none, Mr. Chair.

MS. NEWLAND:  Mr. Chairman, I would like to get exhibit numbers for two letters that were filed with the Board this week.  I have given copies to Ms. Zhang.  The first is a letter from Dentons to the Board dated March 6th regarding the TMMC witness panel and enclosing the witnesses' curricula vitae and a list of the individual witness responsibilities.  Could I get an exhibit number?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, Ms. Newland, so the CV package will be Exhibit K1.1 and -- no, sorry, the letter dated March 5th will be Exhibit K1.1 and the package of CVs will be K1.2, and we will pass those up to the Panel at this time.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  LETTER DATED 5 MARCH 2019.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  PACKAGE OF CURRICULUM VITAE.

MS. NEWLAND:  So K1.2 refers to the letter dated March 6th.  For the record, the letter dated March 5th, 2009 (sic) is from Toyota and it's regarding the EB-2015-0043 Staff report.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Thanks very much.

MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.

Are there any other preliminary matters?  Seeing none, we will proceed to the presentation of the settlement proposal, or the partial settlement proposal.  And what we propose to do, Mr. Vellone, is to have your panel introduced and sworn at this point in time in case there's any questions arising from the settlement proposal, and then we will proceed after that to commence your examination-in-chief.

MR. VELLONE:  Sure.  Why don't we do that now, then.  Earlier this week I did circulate a letter with a copy of all the witnesses' CVs.  Perhaps I can get that marked as an exhibit as well.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Do we have copies of those for the Panel, Mr. Vellone?

MR. VELLONE:  I did not bring printouts, no.

MR. JANIGAN:  I think we received those, did we not?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  It will be Exhibit K1.3, and the Panel may have been provided with paper copies, but everyone did receive them electronically in any event.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  LETTER WITH COPY OF WITNESSES' CURRICULUM VITAE.

MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Miles, why don't you get started.  State and spell your name and introduce yourself for the Panel.

MR. MILES:  Sure.  My name is Ian Miles, I-A-N M-I-L-E-S, and good morning, Mr. Chair, Panel.  I am currently the president and CEO of Energy+, the utility which was created following the merger of Cambridge and North Dumfries Hydro and Brant County Power.  I have been in this position since 2012, so for about seven years now.  Prior to that I have been an executive officer at a number of other utilities as well.

In terms of education, I have a Master's business degree and chartered director designation from Directors College.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Mr. Miles.  And what portion of the application were you responsible for?

MR. MILES:  As president and CEO I oversaw and ultimately was responsible for the entire application, including the facilities plan.

MR. VELLONE:  Thanks.

Ms. Hughes, would you like to go next?

MS. HUGHES:  My name is Sarah Hughes, S-A-R-A-H H-U-G-H-E-S.  I am the chief financial officer of Energy+ and I have been in this position for six years.  Prior to this I was employed with a similar position at another utility.  In terms of education, I have a masters of accounting from the University of Waterloo and obtained my chartered director designation from the Directors College.  I am a chartered professional accountant, CA, with over 25 years' experience, including 15 years in the energy sector.

MR. VELLONE:  What was your responsibility for the application?

MS. HUGHES:  I oversaw the preparation and am responsible for the entire rate application.

MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Bacon?

MR. BACON:  Yes, my name is Bruce Bacon, B-R-U-C-E B-A-C-O-N, and I am a senior utility rate consultant at Borden Ladner Gervais.  I have been in this position for 11 years.  Prior to this I was employed in a similar position at a consulting firm.  I have 39 years of experience in electricity and natural-gas industries.  In terms of my education I have a Bachelor's degree in science in mathematics from York University and I also attended Ivey Business School, the marketing management program.

MR. VELLONE:  And what was your responsibility for the application?

MR. BACON:  I provided Energy+ with support on the technical and regulatory aspects of the application, including cost allocation and rate design.

MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Molon?

MR. MOLON:  I name is Dan Molon, D-A-N M-O-L-O-N.  I am the manager of regulatory affairs and financial planning at Energy+, and I have been in this position since July 2018.  Prior to my current position I have held similar roles in other utilities.  In terms of education, I have a Master of business administration from McMaster University.  And in terms of professional accreditations, I have a chartered professional accountant, CMA designation.

MR. VELLONE:  And what was your responsibility for the application?

MR. MOLON:  As a whole relating to the regulatory aspects, including DVAs.

MR. VELLONE:  And Mr. Sinclair?

MR. SINCLAIR:  Hello, my name is Ron Sinclair, R-O-N S-I-N-C-L-A-I-R.  I have been with Energy+ since 1988 and I am the vice-president of engineering.  Prior to this employment period I have held various positions within Energy+.  In terms of education, I have a Bachelor's degree in applied science electrical from the University of Waterloo, and I am a professional engineer.

MR. VELLONE:  And what was your responsibility for the application?

MR. SINCLAIR:  All aspects of the application that deal with engineering and asset management.

MR. VELLONE:  We can swear the witnesses.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.
ENERGY+ INC. - PANEL 1

Ian Miles,
Sarah Hughes,
Bruce Bacon,
Dan Molon,
Ron Sinclair, Affirmed

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  Mr. Vellone, you can proceed to present the partial settlement proposal.
Presentation of the Settlement Agreement by Mr. Vellone:


MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I provided some brief remarks.  I probably will only be some five minutes or so summarizing the settlement proposal.

What I will say at the outset is if you have any questions about any topic as I hit them, please feel free to interrupt me.  We can deal with that issue then, and then we will continue to move on.

In the settlement proposal, certain parties took no position on particular aspects of the settlement.  In my remarks this morning, if I say "the parties", I really am referring only to those parties that took a position on a particular issue.

The partial settlement proposal that was filed with the Board on December 12th, 2018, represents a partial settlement of the issues in this hearing, and largely a settlement on the revenue requirement components of the rate application, and specifically included in a settlement on capital issue 1.1, which included a reduction in test year capital additions as $300,000, and a completely updated appendix 2AB was attached to the settlement proposal so you could see what the implications of that rate reduction was on the five-year capital plan of the applicant.  That's attached as appendix B to the settlement proposal.

There was also an adjustment to opening and closing, opening rate base and 2019 capital expenditures to reflect the best available information on actual 2018 capital expenditures, so just a true-up to reflect best available information at the time.

There was also a complete settlement on the operations maintenance and administration expenses, including a reduction of test year OM&A expenses of $170,000.  And the settlement proposal explicitly notes, with regards to both aspects of that settlement, that management of Energy+ confirmed that neither of those settlements will compromise the safety and reliability or integrity of the system going forward.

All other elements of the revenue requirement were settled, including working capital, cost of capital, which was updated to reflect the Board's parameters, other revenues which was increased by $100,000.  That increase was directly to account for anticipated incremental bank interest earned from money in the bank; that's what that was for.  As well as deprecation was settled and PILS were settled largely as filed.

The parties reached a partial settlement on the proposed load forecast, and I just want to explain why that one was a partial settlement.

The settlement is shown on table 5 of the settlement proposal, and represent assessment both on the load forecast and customer account.  The settlement is partial because elements of the load forecast, the CDM adjustments and the LRAMVA thresholds are all subject to the Board's final determination on the issues that are going to hearing today and tomorrow.

Those adjustments are largely mechanical, but will need to be made following the Board's determination on the unsettled issues.

The parties also agreed to the impacts of any changes in accounting standards and policies have been appropriately reflected.  And the parties were able to reach agreement on interim disposition of Group 1 DVAs, although the parties did not reach agreement on part 2 DVAs.

Finally, the parties agreed to a January 1st, 2019, effective date.

In arriving in this settlement the partial settlement, the parties took time to ensure that, as best we could, there was a clear and unambiguous rationale supporting each of the settlements of each of the issues, as well as detailed pinpoint references to the evidentiary record and to the extent additional information needed to be filed to complete that record, it was attached directly to the settlement proposal.

The parties did arrive at this partial settlement as a package.  None of the parts are severable.  And guess I will open it up to questions now.

DR. ELSAYED:  I just have one quick question.  The reduction you talked about in the capital program for 2019, did that have any impact on your distribution system plan on future years?

MR. VELLONE:  Perhaps I will let Mr. Sinclair address this directly; it's better to hear it from him.  And the question was the test year reduction in your capital expenditures, did that impact future years of your system planning.

MR. SINCLAIR:  What it resulted in was we shifted some planned system renewal work into later years.

DR. ELSAYED:  So there was an increase then in future years?

MR. SINCLAIR:  We anticipate to manage within our totals in future years.

DR. ELSAYED:  The total that you have in this application?

MR. SINCLAIR:  Pardon?

DR. ELSAYED:  You expect to manage within the total that is in your current application?

MR. SINCLAIR:  Yes, that is our plan.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay, thank you.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much.  The OEB is in general agreement with the provisions of the partial settlement, and believe that they are in the public interest.

Just to ensure adherence to the terms, the final approval will await the resolution of the remaining issues.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

MR. JANIGAN:  Just one more matter before we get into the examination of the panel.  Parties can note that we have set aside two days for this hearing and hopefully we would like to stay within those limits, if possible.  And we are asking the parties to try to adjust your participation accordingly.

Secondly, there are a number of documents that have been declared confidential to which the parties have had access upon filing the requisite undertaking.  And we also note that Toyota has claimed confidentiality for the filings of March the 1st.  So that in keeping with our earlier rulings, we would grant the responses as well confidential treatment.

I would ask the questioning parties that if they intend to refer to confidential documents, to ensure that you alert the panel so that we would go in camera in order to have that discussion and, if possible, to try to avoid reference to the confidential material in the documents unless it's absolutely essential to the questioning.

Thank you very much.  Mr. Vellone, you may commence your examination-in-chief of the panel.
Examination-in-Chief by Mr. Vellone:


MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Mr. Miles, Ms. Hughes, Mr. Bacon, Mr. Molon, Mr. Sinclair, was the application, including all interrogatory responses, updates to the evidence, et cetera, prepared by you or under your supervision?

ALL: Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  You adopt the evidence as your own in this proceeding?

ALL: Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Are there any corrections you would like to make to the evidence at this time?

MR. MOLON:  Yes.  In response to SEC technical conference question number 11, Energy+ provided bill impacts of a number of different scenarios.  Energy+ also provide on a separate page a description of each scenario.  The correction relates to the description with respect to the VECC 69 scenario for embedded distributors.  It should read: "Cost allocation to embedded distributors similar to other classes".

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you very much.  I believe the witnesses have prepared a brief opening statement.  Mr. Miles, would you like to get us started?
Opening Statement by Mr. Miles:


MR. MILES:  Thank you Mr. Vellone.  Mr. Chair, Panel, I have a few opening remarks with respect to our facilities plan, which is the subject of the ACM portion of the application.

As discussed in our facilities plan, Energy+ Inc. currently operates out of three facilities, two in the Cambridge and North Dumfries service area and one in the Brant County service area.

Energy+'s Bishop Street head office and operation centre, built in 1981 is about 12 years past its intended life span and is too small to accommodate employee growth.  Employees are currently working out of converted hallways and closets.  42 percent of employees work out of workstations that do not have access to natural light.

The Thompson Drive space was leased in Cambridge in 2013 to house additional administrative staff but has resulted in a physical separation from the rest of the organization.

In 2014, Energy+ prepared a comprehensive space-needs requirements and began a search for viable options to meet the needs of the growing utility.  And the late 2014 acquisition and subsequent 2016 amalgamation of Brant County Power further exacerbated the over-crowding, as nine employees were relocated from Brant County to Bishop Street.

So in this context, Energy+ undertook a thorough process to determine its facilities requirements and has conducted a wide review of alternative options and has selected a prudent solution to meet the needs for the foreseeable future.

Evidence of this multi-year review of various alternatives, including renovating currently owned buildings, purchasing, renovating alternative facilities, leasing alternative facilities, and construction of new facilities has been filed on the record as part of Exhibit 2, Appendix 2-1, Appendix 2N.

With the assistance of a commercial real-estate broker over 50 potential sites were identified and analyzed based on cost, location, availability of services, and access to major roadways.

The estimated cost for viable alternatives range from about 28 to 35 million dollars.  All of this is documented in our facilities plan.

In this context, in 2017, Energy+ was approached by a developer and presented with an opportunity to acquire and renovate a portion of an historic building that is part of a larger mixed-use redevelopment project in the former downtown Galt area.  I will refer to this opportunity as the proposed Southworks facility.

I should note at the outset that at no time was Energy+ instructed by our shareholder to assess this opportunity.  This is something that Energy+ assessed because it made sense to minimize costs to customers while meeting the needs of the business.

Energy+ assessed this opportunity against its other alternatives and concluded that it presented the most cost-effective option by a wide margin.  Energy+ considered Southworks to be a viable option as an administrative office from a location perspective, as it is central to the Cambridge, North Dumfries, and Brant County service territory.

The nature of the renovation opportunity also enabled Energy+ to size the square footage to match the space needs of the administrative employees who would be working there.

Following due diligence and preparation of an architectural design brief, which has been filed in evidence, Energy+ developed an estimate of $8.1 million for this project, and that's inclusive of furniture and other soft costs.  This is approximately one-quarter the cost of other alternatives explored.

Once administrative employees are relocated to the Southworks building, the building at Bishop Street will be renovated and modernized.  This building will continue to be utilized for our engineering and our operations department to service customers in the Cambridge and North Dumfries portion of our service territory.  Renovations to the existing building are planned for around 2024 or later.

The leased office space at Thomson Drive will be terminated when employees at this location are relocated to the Southworks facility in 2022.

So in this context, Energy+ is seeking ACM approval of its proposed Southworks facility in advance of investing even more money into this project.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Mr. Miles.

Ms. Hughes?
Opening Statement by Ms. Hughes:

MS. HUGHES:  Thank you, Mr. Chair, Panel.  My comments are with respect to Energy+'s proposal for a standby capacity charge and Energy+'s overall approach with respect to cost allocation and rate design.

With respect to the standby capacity charge, Energy+ has proposed the introduction of a standby charge in this application for all commercial customers GS greater than 50 KW and above who have or are planning to implement load displacement generation and require Energy+ to act as a backup supply electricity in the event that the source of generation is not operating.

Energy+ has been considering the implementation of a standby charge at least as early as 2014 as a result of the implementation of a large cogeneration project by one of its large-use customers and more recently due to a growing demand by commercial customers to install load displacement generation.

Where customers are expecting Energy+ distribution system to be available in the event that load displacement generation is not functioning, Energy+ needs to operate, maintain, and ensure that an appropriate amount of capacity is available when customers require it.

Localized assets in the distribution system are designed and built to be large enough to serve all of its local customers when demand is at its highest peak.  Energy+ continues to invest in its distribution system and incurs operations, maintenance, and administrative costs to operate the distribution system based upon the expected capacity required.

In the absence of the introduction of standby or capacity the fear was that costs will be shifted to other customers due to decreasing metered volumes for those customers with load displacement generation.  Energy+'s proposal is to utilize the contract capacity methodology for standby.  Under Energy+'s proposed contract capacity method, the customer contracts for a peak load requirement, which I will refer to as the contracted amount.

On a monthly basis, if the customer's actual peak load is greater than or equal to the contracted amount, the customer is charged the volumetric rate on the actual load.  If the customer's actual peak load is less than the contracted amount, the customer is charged on the actual load at the volumetric rate plus a standby rate on the difference between the contracted amount and the actual load.

Energy+ has proposed a standby rate that is based on the same volumetric rate of the class, as it was considered to be a reasonable and simpler approach for customers to understand.

Energy+ proposes to establish the initial contract capacity amount based on actual historical peak demand of the customer with the customer having the ability to request a lower contracted amount if the customer can demonstrate an ability to shed load when the load displacement generation is not operating.

Energy+ analyzed the cost to the existing large-user customer with load displacement generation under a number of different scenarios and the contract capacity proposed by Energy+ was identified as the most cost-effective for the customer.

Energy+ believes that the contract capacity method is the most reasonable and fairest approach since it is intended to represent the peak load distribution requirement of the customer.  In other words, it represents the maximum capacity amount that the customer needs from Energy+ to support their operation.

With respect to rate design, as part of the 2019 rate application process Energy+ was very much focused on the harmonization of distribution rates for the Cambridge and North Dumfries and Brant County service territories based on its existing rate classes.  In the application Energy+ has proposed harmonized rates for the Cambridge and North Dumfries and Brant County service territories.  This approach is consistent with the commitment made as part of the purchase and sale agreement for the acquisition of Brant County Power and is outlined in MAADs application that was ultimately approved by the Board.

With respect to cost allocation, Energy+'s rate design proposal is based on existing customer classes utilizing the Board's established cost allocation methodologies and practices, and Energy+ believes that it is a fair and reasonable approach.

However, Energy+ does understand that there are a number of issues to be addressed with cost allocation in this case, which the OEB must consider in rendering its decision.

Energy+ has tried to be as helpful to the process as possible and has prepared a number of alternative scenarios as requested by various intervenors.  In response to technical conference question SEC 11, Energy+ summarized seven different scenarios.  The scenarios proposed contained variations with respect to one versus two large-user rate class, direct allocation to TMMC, direct and indirect allocation to the large user class or classes, and allocation to the embedded distributors as per Appendix 2Q or similar to other rate classes.

Energy+ does have some concerns with some of the other proposals that have been explored in this process which I think is relevant to the OEB panel.  Specifically, the introduction of direct cost allocation for the large-user class adds an additional layer of complication with corresponding cost and effort which could be confusing to customers.

Energy+ does not consider two separate large-user customer classes as an appropriate option due to a number of factors, including an expected increase in the regulatory and administrative burden of the approach, confidentiality of the customer information, protecting the low profile of each of the customers, as it would only be one customer in each rate class, and determination of the appropriate large user rate class for any future large user in Energy+'s service territory.

With respect to utilizing direct allocation to TMMC as a separate rate class, Energy+ has not undertaken a detailed direct allocation study.  As a result, any scenarios prepared as part of this proceeding were based on estimates.  There is uncertainty whether Energy+ has correctly identified and quantified all of the direct costs for TMMC.

Specifically, Energy+ is faced with limitations with respect to identifying the assets, and the cost of specific assets used by a particular customer in the financial records, due to the use of the pooled method of accounting for assets.

Not all of the assets utilized by TMMC are dedicated.  Feeders are dedicated; however, the poles and other assets are shared with other customers and need to be allocated on a common basis.  In the absence of a direct allocation study, it is also difficult to determine the directly allocated OM&A costs for TMMC.

Energy's view is that for TMMC, there would at best be both direct and indirect costs to be allocated by the cost allocation model.

In Energy+'s view, the various scenarios have raised more questions than answers with respect to the use of direct allocation.  I will limit my comments to four questions.

First, with improvements in our information systems and asset registry, direct allocation could, in theory, be done for a variety of other Energy+ customers.  For example, Energy+ has customers in the GS greater than 50 KW and above classes that are located within close proximity of a transformer station.

Should an estimate of directly allocated costs based on kilometres of line for these customers be used, similar to the methodology proposed by TMMC?

Second, as Energy+ customers that are supplied from an Energy+-owned transformer station, with the remainder supplied from Hydro One transformer stations.  Should costs be allocated to all customers differently based on their method of supply?

Third, some of Energy+'s customers are supplied by more than 127.6 kV feeder on a regular basis to improve reliability to them.  Should these customers pay for the assets of both feeders?

Fourth, if direct allocation was approved by the Board, Energy+ could be faced with the potential for other customers to request similar treatment in the future. As a result, would Energy+ be expected to maintain a record of capital and operating costs associated with each customer, just in case they request direct allocation?

There are also costs that do not show up directly in a financial analysis of the asset values associated with a particular customer.  That is true in the case of two dedicated supply feeders that feed TMMC.

As identified in Energy+'s distribution system plan, industrial load growth is expected in the east side lands of Cambridge.  Hydro One's recently published needs assessment report for the Kitchener-Waterloo-Cambridge- Guelph region identifies the planned replacement of the end of life transformers at the Preston transformer station in Cambridge in 2025-2026.

This will add significant transformer station capacity, and may delay plans if for our MTS Number 2.  In order to fully utilize this capacity, new 27.6 kV feeder routes from Preston TS to the east side lands will be required.  The TMMC dedicated supply feeders have capacity available on a regular basis, and even more so after the introduction of TMMC's load displacement generation.

With protection setting changes, and the addition of a typical normal operating point between the two feeders, this capacity could be utilized to supply part of the new east side lands.

Energy+ has no plans to make these changes, as the present arrangement best meets the needs of our customer TMMC.  However, additional capital investment will be made, either in the form of new lines or ultimately the construction of MTS 2 when feeder capacity is technically available today.  There is a cost to this, which isn't presently factored in the direct cost allocation scenarios.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Ms. Hughes.

MS. NEWLAND:  Excuse me, Mr. Chair.  Mr. Vellone would you be able to provide us with a copy of Ms. Hughes' opening statement, a written copy?

MR. VELLONE:  We can attempt to do that over lunch, if that would be helpful.

MS. NEWLAND:  That will be helpful.

MR. VELLONE:  We will also get the transcript tonight.

MS. NEWLAND:  Yes, but we would like to see it as soon as possible.

MR. VELLONE:  We will do our best.

MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you.  There's a lot of material in that opening statement.

MR. ANDRE:  It might be possible, if you ask the court reporter, to get transcript relatively quickly.

MS. NEWLAND:  Yes, I can do that, Mr. Janigan.

MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Molon, would you like to finish off?
Opening Statement by Mr. Molon:

MR. MOLON:  Yes, thank you.  Mr. Chair, Panel, my comments are with respect to the gross load billing for RTSR rates and the recovery of Group 2 deferral and variance accounts.

First, I will discuss the Energy+ proposal for gross load billing for RTSR connection rates.  Energy+ incurs  RTSR connection charges on a gross load basis from Hydro One.  Energy+ is currently billing its customers for RTSR connection on a net load basis.  Collecting revenue on a different base since than how costs are occurred results in subsidization for customers with load displacement generation from those that do not have it.

This is a known problem that Energy+ is proposing to address with a simple fix within this application.  Customers will be billed RTSR connection charges on a gross load basis in the exact same manner that Energy+ is billed by Hydro One.

Next, I will address the recovery of Group 2 deferral and variance accounts, including the monthly billing deferral and variance account and the LRAMVA claim.

Energy+ has proposed the recovery of Group 2 variance accounts including LRAMVA in the amount of $2,134,541 on a harmonized basis.  The amounts requested for recovery reflect adjustments made through the interrogatory process and the settlement process, as well as an adjustment to the LRAMVA as part of the response to undertaking JTC1.8.

A major component of the Group 2 variance account balances is related to the LRAMVA claim.  Energy+ is requesting approval for the recovery of LRAMVA balances attributable to the energy efficiency programs as at December 31st, 2017, within this cost of service application.

The LRAMVA claim includes energy savings from a generation project that was undertaken as part of the IESO's process and systems upgrade initiative, PSUI.  The OEB's updated policy for lost revenue adjustment mechanism calculation notes that demand savings for PSUI projects are determined by the IESOs evaluation, measurement and verification EM&V protocols.  It also states that the average demand savings figure should generally be multiplied by 12 to represent the demand savings the distributor has experienced over the entire year.

Energy+ believes that using the average demand savings amount from the EM&V report for this project would overstate the attributable lost revenue; our customers would pay too much.

As a result, an alternative calculation of the demand savings for purposes of the lost revenue claim has been provided in the LRAMVA work form.  The alternative methodology results in a reduction to the monthly savings of approximately 11 percent.

For billing purposes, Energy+ has Measurement Canada approved meters installed to measure the quantity of power taken from the customers' feeders on Energy+'s distribution system. Energy+ also has a Measurement Canada approved meter installed on the output of the generation facility for the computation of RTSR connection charges that are based on gross load billing by Hydro One.

With this metering arrangement, Energy+ can determine the exact demand of the entire facility by adding the inputs of the feeders coming off of the distribution system to the output of the generation.  For the LRAMVA computation, two peaks were computed for each month in 2016 and 2017, the years in which the claim is applicable to.

The first peak was the hour and the month when the customer had the highest demand off of the Energy+ feeders.  This is the demand Energy+ used to bill the customer throughout the time frame, and does not include the generation.

The second peak was the hour and the month when the customer had the highest demand for the entire facility.  This includes the demand from the Energy+ feeders and the output of the generation.

It is Energy+'s view that the approach of utilizing the peak demand of the entire facility inclusive of generation represent as verifiable proxy for the demand the customer would have been billed for in absence of the generation project.

The differences in the two peaks provides an accurate calculation of the demand savings attributable to the generation project, and the resulting amount is lower than the amount calculated using the average monthly demand from the project's EM&V report.

The IESO verified average monthly demand savings for this project are available in the EM&V reports filed confidentially by TMMC as attachment A in response to technical conference question Energy+ TC1B.

Energy+'s LRAMVA claim also includes savings from streetlighting retrofit projects in the Brant County rate zone that took place in 2016.  The IESO's annual final verified results report presents demand savings relative to the provincial system peak.  The streetlights operating strictly during off-peak hours, there's no impact on the provincial system peak, and therefore there are no demand savings attributed to them.

Since streetlights are billed on a demand basis and they are demonstrable revenue losses as a result of the projects, Energy+ has provided an alternative method for estimating the demand savings that utilizes actual streetlight billing reductions to calculate the LRAMVA amount.

This method has been utilized by other distributors and successful LRAMVA claim decisions, including Veridian Connections Inc. in their 2017 IRM application.

Energy+ has also requested approval for the recovery of the balances in the monthly billing deferral account.  In the OEB's decision and order from the Cambridge and North Dumfries Hydro Inc.'s 2016 IRM application the OEB approved the request for an accounting order to establish a new deferral account to record incremental costs directly related to the implementation of monthly billing for disposition at the time of its next rebasing application.

I am quoting from the approved accounting order:

"The account will be used to record any incremental OM&A costs directly attributable to the transition to monthly billing.  Costs to be recorded will be net of any associated cost reductions resulting from the transition, including efforts towards paperless billing, improvements in cash flow, or reductions in bad debt."

Energy+ began moving CND customers to monthly billing in November and December 2016 and all customers transitioned by the billing period beginning January 3rd, 2017.  The transition affected CND customers in the residential class that were not on an equal payment plan and some of the customers in the GS less than 50-kilowatt class.

Customers in the Brant service territory were already on a monthly billing -- were already billed on a monthly basis prior to the acquisition by former CND in 2014.

Energy+ has captured all applicable items listed in the accounting order in the deferral account.  The net costs recorded in the monthly billing deferral account are $406,749 as of December 31st, 2017, with carrying charges of $9,597.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you very much.

The witnesses are available for cross.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thanks very much.  I trust that the evidence that they were referring to in that is contained elsewhere in the materials?  Nothing new was added
in the --


MR. VELLONE:  The only thing that was added were their views on the scenarios so that parties could ask questions about the applicant's views.  We thought that was relevant at the start of the proceeding, and I will send those to all of the parties today.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  I believe first up is VECC.  Let me also add that because of the letter that was sent by TMMC concerning the draft report, I thought I would address that in terms of its use in this proceeding.  First of all, that report that was issued on February 21st for rate design for commercial and industrial customers is a draft document and does not currently reflect policy until it is adopted.  In addition, we understand that that document, at the earliest, will go into effect in 2021.  It does not provide the OEB with direction or guidance in this proceeding.  It can be referred to in cross-examination like any article or report for the purpose of asking a witness to comment on its provisions, but it is not to be received for the truth of what's in that report and it is not evidence or a guideline deciding this issue or proposal.

Any questions about that?  Okay.  Can we proceed with VECC's cross-examination?

MR. GARNER:  I am ready to proceed, Mr. Chair.

MR. JANIGAN:  I believe you have a compendium, Mr. Garner?

MR. GARNER:  I do.  It went out last night.  I wasn't intending to give hard copies.  It's mostly used for illustration and my benefit to follow along, but if it would be given an exhibit number that would be helpful.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be Exhibit K1.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  VECC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR ENERGY+ PANEL 1.

MR. JANIGAN:  I am sorry, I didn't get the exhibit number?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  K1.4.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, thank you very much.

MR. GARNER:  I may proceed?

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.


Cross-Examination by Mr. Garner:

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Good morning, panel, my name is Mark Garner.  I am with VECC.  We have all, I think, met before.

As I was indicating to the Chair, some of the compendium I have here is to give us some context as we get into it.  I am going to be discussing only the building and the development capital plant in this hearing, and my colleague Mr. Harper will be dealing with the cost allocation and rate design issues.

So what I would like to do, and if Mr. Minichini can help me on this, is just to -- Mr. Miles, you talked this morning about the buildings.  I want to take a look at the buildings.  So if you go to Slide 3, and you can put it up so that everybody can see it.  As I understand it, this is the Bishop Street building, is it not?

MR. MILES:  That's correct, yes.

MR. GARNER:  And if we go to the slide right after it, what I have just done from Google is to give the Board an idea of what Bishop Street looks like.  What you have is you have mostly operational staff there, although you have some administrative staff, and you have a yard in the back.  I call it a yard with some equipment and plant stuff that you keep there; is that right?

MR. MILES:  That's correct, yeah.

MR. GARNER:  Right, okay.  So if we go on down to the next slide after that, this is Thomson Street; isn't it?  Is this your -- I hope I have it right.  Is that the right address?

MR. MILES:  Yes, that's right, and that's where we lease 5,100 square feet of office space.

MR. GARNER:  Is that where you work out of right now, and Ms. Hughes --


MR. MILES:  No, I currently work out of the Bishop Street office.

MR. GARNER:  I see.  Ms. Hughes, do you work out of this building?

MS. HUGHES:  I actually commute between the two locations.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.

And the next one -- and this is from your evidence -- this is just a side shot of what Southworks is, is it not?  This is the building that's being discussed and renovated, right, from your evidence.

MR. MILES:  That's correct, yes.

MR. GARNER:  And the next one I go is -- and much more impressive -- is the same concept of what you have at Southworks, and the reason I put this is here is not to show the grandeur, which, it's quite pretty, but there's a lot of discussion about condos, and I just wanted myself to get an idea of what these condos were.  These two large buildings, is that the artist's conception of the condos that are being talked about in this?

MR. MILES:  Yes, that's correct.  This comes from a marketing piece that the developer had put together.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  And so there are two buildings being built, right?

MR. MILES:  That's correct, yes.

MR. GARNER:  And one of the things we are going to talk about a little later is parking, and the parking being discussed here, is it somewhere underneath one of these or both of these buildings that you require?

MR. MILES:  That's correct.  It's in the parking podium, if you will, of one of the condo towers, the tower that's closest to the Southworks building.

MR. GARNER:  Oh, okay, thank you.  And I can skip the next slide and go to number 9.  As I understand it, this is a different shot from your evidence of Southworks.  And as I understand it, this is the building you paid -- is this Southworks, first of all?  I guess -- it's your evidence, I think, it's from one of the reports.

MR. MILES:  Yes, it is, yeah.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  And I understand it, you paid $1 for this building; is that right?

MR. MILES:  The transaction hasn't closed yet, but, yes, that is the agreement with the developer.

MR. GARNER:  You haven't paid your dollar yet.

MR. MILES:  We haven't paid our dollar yet.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  So it doesn't look like you have overpaid for this building yet for $1.  But I just wanted to -- so is this the current state roughly of the building right now?

MR. MILES:  The portion that you see at the end there is to be demolished and, in fact, it may already be demolished.  It was sort of an add-on to the building at one point.  It's a wooden structure, so that was to be taken away.

MR. GARNER:  Right, okay.  And then if just go to the next slide -- again, this is an artist's conception of the finished product, I think.  Have I got that right?  Is this what Southworks is supposed to look like in its completion?

MR. MILES:  Well, it's missing the condo towers.  I am not exactly sure --


MR. GARNER:  Well, the condo tower appears on the very right corner.

MR. MILES:  Oh, yes, I see that.

MR. GARNER:  And then it's looking into a courtyard.  And the reason I wanted to show the panel this is to give them a sense of what Southworks is.  It's not simply the sliding building you saw, a long building on one side.  It's a courtyarded thing.  In Toronto, it would be like, say, the Distillery district here.  It's sort of a courtyarded type of thing.

MR. MILES:  Yes, that's correct.  It's intended to be a mixed use development.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  And could you -- I don't know if this is very accurate, so it may not be.  But could you tell us roughly in which one of these buildings in the courtyard are you supposed to be in?

MR. MILES:  So we are in the building that's furthest, I guess, up the screen, the long building there, and we are on the far right-hand side of it, that portion of the building.

MR. GARNER:  Right, okay, thank you.  And then these other buildings are going to be leased to different tenants?

MR. MILES:  They are intended to be, yeah, restaurants and retail shops.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  And do you know, when you say you bought for a dollar the building, which building did you buy for a dollar?  The whole thing there, or just the long building?

MR. MILES:  No, a severed portion of that long building.

MR. GARNER:  I see.  So a severed portion of the long Building, not even all of it.

MR. MILES:  That's correct.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, I understand now.  So the other buildings, they are part of the developer's development.

MR. MILES:  That's correct, yes.

MR. GARNER:  I see.  And just while we are on that, then what strikes me in looking at that is why was it that you needed to buy the building for a dollar?  Why didn't you just become a tenant, like an anchor tenant to this?  What was the impetus to buy into this, so to speak?

MR. MILES:  Well, the renovations and the leasehold improvements, if you will, would have had to have been done regardless.  The building right now is an empty shell, so it has to be fitted out and made suitable for office space.

Our view in lease versus owning it was we took a longer-term view.  We intend to be there for 65 or 70 years, whatever the life of the building is, versus a lease where there could be some uncertainty on future rate increases and we would have expected that the developer would have wanted to earn a return on that lease, and we viewed ownership as preferable.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  But it does, then, I guess go along with the risk now that you are owner of the building. If it somehow doesn't meet your needs later, you will have to sell it or rent it out.  Is that what you are going to do?

MR. MILES:  Yeah, the other aspect of this that was attractive to us we felt that this strategy kind of future proofed us, in the sense that by separating our administrative group from our engineering and operations, we have some flexibility to grow within that space in the future if we need to.

But with respect to what may happen in the -- other the next 60 years with respect to mergers and amalgamations, we felt it was preferable to have an asset like this that could be sold or leased out in the event that it was no longer required in the future versus building a special purpose, you know, combined operation and administrative centre, which is more difficult to market if we had to do something in the future.

MR. GARNER:  Right, certainly for -- I don't know if I would call this -- maybe correct me, downtown, I would call it sort of development.  You are sort of in the middle of Cambridge in this area as opposed to where you right now, a little bit -- I would call it in the industrial parks.

MR. MILES:  That's right.

MR. GARNER:  Now, one of things you were saying you have severed, and I saw this in your evidence, in fact  have you gotten the severance for this building yet?

MR. MILES:  No, the severance application is still outstanding.  We are anticipating getting it sometime during the month of April.

MR. GARNER:  And so one of the things that when you updated your cost to $8 million from the 4 million you originally had, when I looked at this building is I was wondering -- given what you have said about severing it now, I thought you were in a single building that was yours.

In severing it, how does the $8 million develop that whole entire building?  So is it sort of like the other developer has taken his chunk and walls it off, and you just develop your end of the thing?  It seems like a singular building is...

MR. MILES:  Yeah, that's correct.  A firewall, like a cinder block fire wall has been built.  It's already been built by the developer and our agreement was to share the cost of that wall 50-50.  And we sized the amount of the building that we needed based on the number of employees that we intend to locate there.  So we had some flexibility in determining where that wall was actually built.  It ended up being roughly a 50/50 split in terms of the overall space.

MR. GARNER:  Do you keep a customer counter for Energy+ some place right now?

MR. MILES:  A customer counter?

MR. GARNER:  Yeah, you know, where you can come in and talk to the utility, pay your bill, as some utilities do.

MR. MILES:  Yes, we do.  A number of years ago, we stopped taking cash payments, so the amount of customer traffic has gone down a fair bit since we implemented those policies.

MR. GARNER:  I see.  So even though this building will be downtown, so to speak, there will be no customer cash payment -- there will maybe be a box you throw your envelope in kind of thing, right?

MR. MILES:  We have built in a plan for a counter, you know, a receptionist counter that if customers want to come in to drop off a deposit, or to make an appointment to talk to somebody, we have taken that into consideration in the design.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.  And just again to give a little bit of context, just looking at the sizes on the next slide, which is Slide 12, these are the tables where you provided the sizes of the different buildings, Bishop Street, which -- let's just talk about that for a minute because the plan, as I understand it, is that when you finish and move into Southworks, you will renovate Bishop Street in order to -- am I right to say it, make it into a full operations building as opposed to any administrative building, or will there still be administrative staff in that building.

MR. MILES:  It's intended there will be engineering and operations.

MR. GARNER:  Right, so it will be -- but I am correct that it's basically focussed on the operational end of the business --


MR. MILES:  That's correct.

MR. GARNER:  -- as opposed to the administrative building.  So are you adding square footage to the property at the time you do that?  Is that the plan, or just renovating the current square footage?

MR. MILES:  No, the plan is to renovate it and sort of decompress, if you will, some of the -- take back some of the office space and hallway space that we have had to convert to offices currently.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  From your testimony this morning, you're going to come out of the closet, so to speak.

MR. MILES:  Exactly.

MR. GARNER:  And the next one is Thomson Drive.  This one is -- it's 5,000 square feet.  This one is a strict lease and this one you are just going to abandon.

MR. MILES:  The lease.

MR. GARNER:  Abandon the lease when you move into the new building.

MR. MILES:  That's correct.

MR. GARNER:  Dundas Street I want to talk about for one second, again to give the panel the context.  As I understand it -- you correct me -- Dundas Street is in Paris, Ontario, and it used to serve Brant hydro's area; is that right?

MR. MILES:  It's the former Brant County Power administration and office -- sort of administration and operations centre, yes.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  And so do you keep trucks there is and equipment?  Is that what you are doing right now?

MR. MILES:  That's correct.

MR. GARNER:  So as I understand what you have told us in the evidence and at the technical conference is you've -- correct me if I am wrong.  You have sold the building, but you are leasing it back right now and that arrangement will continue until Brant -- sorry, until Brantford Hydro builds a new building, in which you will share a portion of that new building?

MR. MILES:  That's correct.  We've -- we have a relationship with Brantford Power that we have committed to share a facility.  We were both kind of in a similar situation; they needed new facilities, we needed new facilities.  The facility in Paris was very old and it just wasn't practical to even renovate it.

So we decided to sell, lease it back, until we are ready to occupy a shared facility with Brantford Power.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  Brantford Power; I used the wrong name.

That lease that you have, because it's sold and leased back, as I understood when we discussed this at the technical conference, there's some uncertainty as the when Brantford Power is going to do the building, et cetera, and you are at their hands, you know, how that's going to do.

I am just curious now about the arrangement you have leasing back the building.  That's ad infinitum with the current owner, or does have it any expiry?

MR. MILES:  No, it's -- we can extend it up to five years, so I think it goes out to 2022 we can extend it to.

MR. GARNER:  So if there ends up to be a problem with Brantford Power, you have until 2022 in order to basically find different arrangements.

MR. MILES:  That's right.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.

Now, the next thing I want to do again is just to give everybody, including myself, a bit of context, I am going to ask Mr. Minichini to go to Slide 51, and this is just a Google map of the current situation in Southworks, and as we spoke earlier, as I understand this, if you look at Bishop Street, at least from the maps -- I have not driven it -- Bishop Street and Thompson Street, that area is basically an industrial park area with fairly large buildings similar to your Bishop Street operation types of buildings, larger and smaller, but that's basically it; right?

MR. MILES:  That's fair to say, yes.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  And when I went to the next Staff interrogatory next talked about, and you don't really have to read it or anything, it just talked about you saying that part of the benefit, as I understood -- and I think this interrogatory went to -- is about travelling and distance between buildings, and Ms. Hughes this morning talked about driving between buildings.

But as I look at this you are not really resolving any issue about travelling between buildings and distance in some sense.  In fact, you are getting farther away.  I mean, Thompson and Bishop Street are in a park where you just drive back and forth, and now you are going to go from Bishop Street to downtown Cambridge in order to make those same commutes, so it looks like, Ms. Hughes, it's going to take you 16 minutes, I think, to go to Bishop Street to Grand Avenue.  I don't know what it takes you now to go from Bishop Street to Thompson, but are you trying to convey to us there's some benefit in moving from Thompson Street in this industrial park down to Cambridge for staff?  I don't get that.

MR. MILES:  The plan is to centralize all the administrative staff in Southworks, so Sarah is going to have to give up one of her offices, and she will just have an office at Southworks.  So the travel will be cut back considerably.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  But that's what I don't get, though.  And again, Ms. Hughes, I don't want you to lose one of your offices, but it seems to me that that's -- Ms. Hughes still has the same problem in the end in the sense that there's operational people, or is it just the fact that there's administrative people that you work with that are now going to be in one place and you were never dealing with who's left over, so to speak, in Bishop Street.  Is that not what's happening?

MS. HUGHES:  So I think it's fair to say that there are groupings of administrative that deal on a more regular basis with one another, certainly in the finance area dealing with regulatory, as well as customer care, billing, regulatory matters.  It doesn't mean that we aren't obviously working with the operations and engineering folks, but we find that there's a tendency to have more dealings with the other administrative folks.  So that was part of the rationale.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.

Now, I'd like to just talk a little bit about Southworks itself and this building that you've bought for a dollar and then are going to spend $8 million renovating.  You have -- and we asked you this question -- you have a number of risks related to this building that you have to manage, as I understand it, and for instance, I have a -- you don't have to bring it up, but at page 37 there's a bunch of construction permits, site approval plans, environmental plans, et cetera, that have to be completed.  And then of course you are a bit at the beckon (sic) of the developer, as I understand it.  And maybe you can help me with that risk, because I am not sure where the development is in the sense of the condo, but if the development of the condo doesn't proceed in fashion, so to speak, how does that hit your plan?

MR. MILES:  Sure.  I would characterize the risk as has gone down significantly since we started looking at this opportunity.  We started looking at this about two years ago.  It was before the environmental record of site condition was done, it was before, you know, a solution was developed to mitigate the environmental issues that are there.

That's all been done now, it's all been approved.  In fact, the city has approved the site plan, which was the next major milestone for the developer.  So that opens things up for the construction to actually start.

So we are through all of those big risk items.  We are at the point now where there's much more certainty on the time line and the costs of moving forward.

MR. GARNER:  Well, how do you know that with respect to the developer?  Now, the developer has got all -- you are saying has got to go through the approvals of the municipality, et cetera, but have they broken ground, are they building the buildings?

MR. MILES:  The developer has just recently obtained site plan approval just in the past week.  It's their intention to start to go out for tender on construction of the condos in April, so it's imminent.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  So can you just give the Board a sense for these condos and this development in Cambridge, since you work there, are these condos relatively big, and is this a relatively big development for the City?

MR. MILES:  For Cambridge I think it's a reasonable size development, yes, I would say that's fair to say.

MR. GARNER:  Right, okay.  And do you know who is the developer?

MR. MILES:  It's Hip Developments.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  The next thing I would like to do is go to slide on page 16.  And this is where you set out in the response to School's technical question a number of the square footage and other metrics or ratios of the different buildings.

And one of the things that struck me when looking at this is if you take all of your buildings together your square footage seems to be relatively low.  But if you are just looking at Southworks the square footage cost of that building for you is quite high even compared to other utilities.

And when you look -- when you compared yourself to all of these other utilities, Waterloo, North, Innpower, Milton, PUC, I don't know them all.  I do know some of them.  The ones I do know, they are really more akin to your Bishop Street operation, so to speak.  They may be more enhanced, but they are one-shop stop (sic) utility buildings.

Are any of these anything like what you are talking about, three buildings in different areas?

MR. MILES:  Yeah, you are right.  I mean, I think this is a bit of an apples-to-oranges comparison because the nature of the Southworks project is different than a combined admin operations facility.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  One other thing before I go on about that about Southworks, I did want to talk about this, is could you explain about this issue about parking to the Board as you went through it to me?  As I understand it, you have how many people moving into Southworks?  I am sorry.

MR. MILES:  Approximately 70.

MR. GARNER:  70.  And so you would need how many parking slots for that or parts?

MR. MILES:  We haven't finalized it yet, but I think we have been talking about 75 spots with the developer.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  And so as I understood it, if the development is delayed or isn't completed in enough time, you will have occupancy issues to get into that building because you will not have facility to park; is that correct?

MR. MILES:  That's correct.

MR. GARNER:  And as I understand it too at the technical conference you told me, well, one way to address that, you are trying to mitigate that, is that -- and I didn't really understand this -- is that there could be partial building and partial parking while the building is being built, which, I just never heard of someone parking in a building that's being built actually at the time.  Was that what you were suggesting?

MR. MILES:  Yeah, it's -- I am not an expert in this, but the construction people tell me that it is possible to get an occupancy permit for the parking portion once a certain level of construction activity has occurred and it's safe to do so.

So they may be still working on the upper floors of that condo tower, but the occupancy permits could be granted for the lower floors, including parking.

MR. GARNER:  I see.  And I guess there may be costs incurred to the developer to do that.  They would have to give you access and have to make sure that could happen.  It wouldn't be free, so to speak, would it?

MR. MILES:  The agreement that we have with the developer is based on a per parking spot fee, and I don't expect that they would increase it based on when we are occupying it.

MR. GARNER:  Do you have an agreement right now about getting parking by the time you are finished your building and if something happens?  Do you have some sort of agreement with them on that?

MR. MILES:  Look, a real way to mitigate the risk around the timing of this is we are not going to undertake the renovations, which is where the larger dollar amounts are incurred, until we know with certainty what the time line is of the condo construction.

MR. GARNER:  Right, right.  Thank you.  And the parking, I saw a figure, $150,000 a year worth of parking; is that right?

MR. MILES:  That's an estimate based on the developer's cost of --


MR. GARNER:  Right.  And when you did that, you know, when we are looking at the $8.1 million and your current estimate, how is that 150,000 a year imputed?  Is it not -- is that just an OM&A cost later when this is all done, or is that imputed into the capital end of this building?

MS. HUGHES:  We have included in the OM&A.

MR. GARNER:  So it's not incorporated into what we see.

MS. HUGHES:  No, it's not.

MR. GARNER:  So let's go back for a minute to the slide at 16, which is the comparator speaking.  Mr. Miles, here is the question I had myself.  As I understand your plan, it kind of works like this.  We have -- most utilities have a single building, operations administration.  Often they are in industrial park areas, at least the ones I have seen.

Your plan is a little bit different.  You have some different challenges.  You have two service areas that are wider apart, so you have to deal with that, and that's how the garden city is getting dealt with.

But your plan for the Cambridge-North Dumfries area is to basically build two buildings, one for administration and one for operations, and the $370 per square foot that you will see in the column under Southworks for that cost.  What dawned on me is that seems like a lot of money per square foot cost.

And when I looked at that and I asked myself, well, if you went to a real estate person in Cambridge and said I just need to get some business square footage in Cambridge, not build anything, I just need to get offices for 70 people in Cambridge somewhere, was that done?

MR. MILES:  It was one of the scenarios that we looked at back in, I think, in 2015 or 2016.  We did look at a few buildings that were available for lease.  But at the time, we were still thinking that our preference was to build a new combined operation administrative and operations centre, as you mentioned as quite a few utilities have.

But what we found was that the cost was, you know, 28 to $35 million in that kind of range.  And the -- as we were looking, in the meantime the cost of land was increasing quite a bit as well.

So when we looked at this opportunity, it was just so much significantly lower in terms of absolute costs, let alone square footage cost, that it was very attractive to us.

MR. GARNER:  Sorry, but you seem to be mixing two different -- apples and oranges in that scenario, because the cost for a -- you are talking about the cost for what I will call the standard utility building in an industrial park that combines all the operations, with the idea of a business office separate from that type of building, and that's the option you chose.

So I am asking kind of a little different question. Having chosen that option saying, okay, we are going to separate the buildings because we want to keep Bishop Street, let's say, and we want to renovate it and that makes sense to us.  Then the next thing, it seems to me, you would have done is done an analysis of doing any building you bought on a square footage rental basis in the city, let's say, down -- anywhere near where you want to be, or any other place in Cambridge, by the way, and said to yourself on an annual square footage basis, it's cheaper to build this -- buy this, build this than it is to go and rent 70 -- you know like this building right here where, you know, the Board occupies and has 170 people inside this building and working right now, right.

So they've gone through an exercise in which they went around and found how much per square foot, and found the best option.  And unfortunately, this is it and took this building, right.

I am wondering why -- did you do that same exercise and say, okay, having chosen this, let's go see what the square footage of building is and do that.  Did you do that exercise?

MR. MILES:  We did not do it after we choose this as a viable option, and a couple reasons.  One, the location -- first of all, there's not a lot of real estate on the market in Cambridge.  It's not like Toronto where you can find a 21,000 square foot piece of sort of move-in ready real estate.

But we also -- we like the location of this facility and it's our intention as we build it out, as we do the renovations, we are going to tender out everything construction and material related.  The only thing that we are not going to tender out is the construction management aspect of it, which is about $400,000 of the total cost.

So our view was we will end up with a prudent market price for the project.

MR. GARNER:  Well, that's one of the things I want to just ask you about.  In the $370 per square foot of capital cost for this, the difficulty of course I have with looking at that -- I don't have a difficulty.  But the difficulty with that figure is if I wanted to compare now just the standard, as you say, lease and rent office space in Cambridge, how much per square foot, I would really have to convert all your costs, including your parking and other things that might happen, into a square foot cost of office space in Cambridge vis-à-vis a square foot of Southworks office space, so to speak.

And I heard you just say you haven't done that, right, because you have now chosen the option you have and so it becomes irrelevant to you what the square footage cost of building Southworks is, because you have made that choice.  Is that right?

MR. MILES:  I wouldn't say it's not relevant.  I go back to my earlier point where we plan on tendering out the construction and the materials for the project that we are undertaking.  So it's our view that at the end of the day, the costs should be equivalent on a per square footage basis.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  I guess what I would ask you is --I guess you could demonstrate that when you're finished.  So if you were finished this whole project in five years, two years, whatever it is that finishes it, there would been ability for you to say, okay, now I know what my square footage cost is, and I can now compare that to Cambridge equivalent places for 350 feet.  And then I can make an assessment as to how well I did vis-a-vis the current market rate.

MR. MILES:  It could be done, yes.

MR. GARNER:  It could be done, okay, thank you.  Now, the next thing I want to talk about a little bit is the issue about choosing this.  And I want to clarify something you said at the technical conference.

I asked you who was from the city on your board of directors, and I think you told me the mayor.  And I did ask about the city.  But then I went back and looked and I just want to be clear.

In addition to the mayor of Cambridge, the mayor of North Dumfries is also on there?

MR. MILES:  North Dumfries is also on the board, yes.

MR. GARNER:  Is there also a gentleman who works for the regional development area of Waterloo on your board?

MR. MILES:  Oh, Gerry Remers.

MR. GARNER:  Gerry Remers.

MR. MILES:  He doesn't work for the regional development.  He is the chair of the regional economic development commission as a board member.

MR. GARNER:  Right, okay, thank you.  And you're a member of the board of directors?

MR. MILES:  I am, yes.

MR. GARNER:  So when you were choosing and discussing this, were the issues about the benefit to the town discussed?

MR. MILES:  I should just clarify that at the time that we choose to go with this option was prior to Gerry Remers joining the board.  So he was not on the board when we made the decision for moving forward.

MR. GARNER:  At the time, thank you for that.

MR. MILES:  In terms of economic benefits, I mean, yes, it was recognized that -- and that's one of the reasons why the developer offered the property for a dollar, because the developer saw the benefits of having jobs there as part of the vision of the kind of the live-work-play of the whole redevelopment of the larger project.

MR. GARNER:  You're kind of, as I would see it -- in the commercial development, you are kind of an anchor to the place because you have 70 people that will be there all the time.

MR. MILES:  Yeah.  I don't know if I would characterize it as anchor, because I think there's going to be lots of other, you know, things going on nearby.

MR. GARNER:  Activity, I understand.  But like a mall, you are kind of big and you are there.

MR. MILES:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  And that's a benefit to the developer --


MR. MILES:  It is, yes.

MR. GARNER:  That's what you're saying, okay.  I want to go to next area, which is the costs and those are set out at slide 41.  And slide 41 are these -- and you will have to help me with the name, Mr. Miles.  Melloul-Blamey?

MR. MILES:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  That's their estimate and there is a $6.7 million number at the bottom of that table.  And then in the next table, you have add up other costs that have to be add to that to get to your 8.1 million.

My first question is just are those your current costs that you are relying on right now?

MR. MILES:  Yes, nothing has changed.

MR. GARNER:  Nothing has changed, thank you.  And as I understand it, these are what you referred to as class C estimates.  And the ones that were prior to the settlement conference were Class D, is that right?

MR. MILES:  That's correct.

MR. GARNER:  So one of the questions I had was about this class A, B, D, whatever, because I am used to -- and I think the Board is because certainly in the east-west tie and other things, they have looked at AACE things and they go class 1 to 5 and they are all well-defined.

I have never heard of classes A, B, C and D.  Is that -- where does that come from?  Is that the contractor's version of what an estimate is?

MR. MILES:  Yeah, my understanding is it's a very common way of classifying estimates within the construction industry.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  And when you get these estimates from your contractor, you're pretty far away yet, right, from constructing.  What's the earliest construction Date, do you think?

MR. MILES:  Probably about a year from now would be the earliest start to construction.

MR. GARNER:  And so there will be another estimate before that time, will there not?

MR. MILES:  It will get refined as we --


MR. GARNER:  Right.

MR. MILES:  -- complete additional engineering designs and whatnot, yes.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  I am just sort of quickly going through here.

I want to talk just now, I think finally, probably, about timing.  And we had -- we have had the discussion also at the technical conference about timing, and again, for my benefit and the Board's, and because it seems to be changing a little bit whenever we talk, I want to talk about the timing of Southworks.

Now, when we were at the technical conference I believe what you said was in the summer of '21 you thought you would be building whatever, and then we had a discussion, and I have a thing in here from the technical conference, but I think we agreed -- or you said it would be -- it could be as late as January 2022.  Now, is that for occupancy or construction, was that the idea?

MR. MILES:  Occupancy is projected to be 2022.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.

MR. MILES:  Construction would start a year -- about a year in advance of that.

MR. GARNER:  It's about one year advanced.

And when you say "occupancy", again, that depends on the parking and arrangements for that.

MR. MILES:  That's correct.

MR. GARNER:  So you have to have that in place.  And Bishop Street; am I right to say that the Bishop Street reno happens in sequence to you moving into the other building, so you have to get out of that building or those people out in order to make up the space to renovate, so it's a sequential stepping of the thing; right?

MR. MILES:  That's right, yes.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Mr. Chair, I think those are all my questions.  Mr. Miles, thank you, Ms. Hughes, thank you.  Thank you, panel.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.

I think we will take our morning break now and come back at 11:15.  I believe, Ms. Girvan, you are up at that point in time.  Thanks very much.
--- Recess taken at 10:54 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:18 a.m.

MR. JANIGAN:  Please be seated.  Ms. Girvan, I believe you also have a compendium.

MS. GIRVAN:  I don't have a compendium.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, sorry.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Girvan:


MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you, panel.  My name is Julie Girvan, representing the Consumers Council of Canada.

So I am really just following up, to a large extent,  on Mr. Garner's cross-examination.

You discussed this at the technical conference, and I just want to confirm this, that the difference -- the reason why you are applying for an ACM versus an ICM is not because you need the money in 2019 and '20.  It's because of the uncertainty, starting construction without OEB approval; is that correct?

MR. MILES:  Yes, that's right.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  And so we have the evidence that you updated, which essentially doubled the estimate from 4 million to 8 million.

And can you just remind me why that amount changed so significantly?

MR. MILES:  Sure.  The original estimate was actually 5 million, if we are comparing apples to apples  That was based on a Class D estimate almost two years ago, and a class D estimate is generally considered based on sort of a conceptual drawing, if you will.  So it's a very rough estimate, and it was before the developer actually took possession of the property, so before a lot of the due diligence was carried out.

And, so, a number of the -- there is a schedule that reconciles the 5 million versus the 8.1 million.  But some of the bigger pieces were the construction of, or the reconstruction of one end of the building to make it a front sort of entrance way.  There was the environmental remediation as well.  And through the due diligence process, it was determined that the windows and the roof of the building needed to be replaced as well.  Those were a number of the larger items.

MS. GIRVAN:  So who put these estimates together for you?  Was that the firm we saw earlier?

MR. MILES:  It was a combination really of Melloul-Blamey, who is the construction firm, and Martinsen, who is the architectural firm that we've retained.

MS. GIRVAN:  So did you put that work out to tender?

MR. MILES:  We did not put out the construction or the architectural to tender, for the for the reason that the architect and the construction company are developing the rest of the property as well, the rest of the larger development.

So it just made sense to have one construction firm and one architectural firm involved.

MS. GIRVAN:  Did you get an independent assessment of those costs from anyone else?

MR. MILES:  Yeah, we compared the architectural fees to what is industry standard.  It's generally about 9 percent of the cost of the total project.  So we validated it that way.

MS. GIRVAN:  What about the construction cost?

MR. MILES:  The construction cost is based on a type of contract where we pay the constructor basically a monthly management fee during the construction, and everything else gets tendered out.  So about $400,000 of the cost relates to the construction management fee.  That we did not tender out, because it's the same contractor that is doing the rest of the development.  But everything else is going to be tendered out.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  And just to follow-up on something Mr. Garner was discussing with you, I guess I saw it on the construction, it was in his compendium, I saw it on the construction costs.  And you said the firewall costs are not included in the budget?

MR. MILES:  They are included, they are included now.  They weren't -- they may not have been in the original class D estimate.  But they are included in the $8.1 million.

MS. GIRVAN:  And how are those accounted for?  They're in the 8.1?

MR. MILES:  They are in the 8.1.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  Can you just remind me why did you only pay a dollar?   I think you discussed this this morning, but I am not quite clear on that.

MR. MILES:  Well, the developer when they approached us, as I mentioned I think earlier, had this vision for a live-work-play for the larger development that's being undertaken there.  So as a component of that, they had a desire to have people working there that would support the retail component of the development and potentially even the condominiums.  If people want to live very close to their work, they could do that.

MS. GIRVAN:  So they essentially gave you the building?

MR. MILES:  Yeah, on the condition it had to be renovated and that's on our cost, yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, all right.  You have this $8.1 million estimate now.  Can you indicate to me or indicate what factors may impact that cost going forward?

MR. MILES:  We believe that the 8.1 is fairly certain at this stage.  As I mentioned earlier, a lot of the uncertainty has now been cleared up with respect to the environmental, the condition of the base building, even the construction of the firewall which has already occurred, and we know exactly what it cost.

So the certainty has been improving quite a bit.  And we intend to make decisions around the final fit and finish of the materials used to stay within that budget, within that 8.1 million budget.  So that's our objective.

MS. GIRVAN:  At this stage, though, you are committed to this project.  Are you contractually committed to the project?

MR. MILES:  Not yet, it hasn't closed.

MS. GIRVAN:  And when will that happen?

MR. MILES:  We expect probably in April that that will happen.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And then you have said that the occupancy could be in 2022 possibly.

MR. MILES:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  And could it go beyond that?

MR. MILES:  It's possible.  I would say not likely at this stage, given that the site plan approval has been obtained by the developer.  That was sort of the last big milestone or hurdle that they needed to actually start the construction.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  But if, for example, let's say the construction got delayed and you couldn't get in, say, not until 2023, were you saying earlier that the existing building you are in, you could stay there?

MR. MILES:  Our plan would be to stay where we are for another year, if that was the case.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  And I think you discussed in your evidence about entering into a construction agreement.  So these something you haven't done, right?

MR. MILES:  We have not done that yet, no.

MS. GIRVAN:  You intend to do that sometime in April?

MR. MILES:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Ms. Hughes, I think this is really -- these are some questions for you.

So I am trying to understand, from a regulatory perspective, how this is going to work.  So you have an $8.1 million cost that you are seeking approval from this panel for.  Is that right?

MS. HUGHES:  So we are seeking approval with respect to the need and prudency,  recognizing that from a regulatory perspective, the costs that we'll actually be seeking funding for will come in an IRM application as part of a funding mechanism.  That's our understanding.

So we saw this as the ACM -- given that this is a material project happening within the five-year period, that it's an ability to be efficient from a Board perspective, in terms of review and evaluation of the project.  But that funding ultimately is done as part of the IRM application.

MS. GIRVAN:  So you want this Panel to approve the need, and you want the second panel to approve the cost?

MS. HUGHES:  So the need and prudency.  So I think certainly we recognize that prudency is a part of the ACM, that the utility has put its business case forward, has presented the options that it explored, and it's a prudent investment required for this utility.

MS. GIRVAN:  So it's prudent at 8.1 million?  That's what you are asking for.

MS. HUGHES:  Those are the estimates that we have at this time.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So what you'll do then, whenever you intend to occupy the building, when you see that date, you will file an ACM within the context of your IRM application?

MS. HUGHES:  So we would come forward with a
funding -- a request for a funding rider at that time in the year in which we expect to take occupancy.

MS. GIRVAN:  So it could be in your 2021 application, or your 2022 application?

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  So what happens, I guess I'm -- I am looking at what happens if the costs, say, materially exceed the $8.1 million.

MS. HUGHES:  So the mechanism, as I understand it, there is a review of all of the costs at that time as part of the IRM and the -- there's a decision made in terms of the ability for this utility to get recovery for the costs it's seeking.

MS. GIRVAN:  So the 8.1's really a placeholder today?

MS. HUGHES:  We view it as being our best estimate at this point.  We have done a revenue requirement on the basis of all of the costs that we are aware of.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So let's say you come forward, for example, in your 2021 application and you're seeking approval of, say it's $8.1 million.  What goes into rate base at that point in time?

MS. HUGHES:  So my understanding is nothing goes into rate base at that time.  There's a funding mechanism -- that's at least my understanding -- computed based on the revenue requirement and the asset cost, as well as its operating expenditures, and a rider is computed, and it would actually go into rate base, I believe, at the time of the next rebasing.  Is that, I believe that -- oh, sorry, I stand corrected.  My understanding is that the operating costs are not included at that time.  The operating costs would form part of the actual rate rebasing period.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So it's the revenue requirement impact of the capital cost?

MS. HUGHES:  Of the capital costs, yes, that's my understanding.

MS. GIRVAN:  That's the way it works.  Okay.  Because I think earlier you said that the OM&A -- that the parking was an OM&A cost; is that correct?

MS. HUGHES:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  But that's not in your base rates.

MS. HUGHES:  That is not in our base rates.  We
also -- I think in response to one of the technical conference IRs we outlined how we have derived the revenue requirement, and in the operating costs the expectation would be, yes, we would have incremental parking, but we would also not have the Thompson lease at that time as well, so we would obviously be expected to reduce --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So have you -- and I may have missed it -- what is the impact on rates -- let's say assuming 2021 is the application that you are going to seek for the rider.  Can you please just indicate to me what the impact on rates is resulting from this project alone?

MS. HUGHES:  So in TCQ Number 11, I think it was response to OEB Staff, we presented the bill impacts.  I don't know if you want to turn that up at this point.  From a residential perspective the estimate is an incremental distribution rate of 83 cents, with a total bill impact of .8 percent.

Now, I would just clarify that there are a number of assumptions that are made, in that this bill impact comparison is based on the 2019 distribution rates, so clearly there would be IRM increases in the pursuing (sic) periods where distribution revenue rates --


MS. GIRVAN:  Sorry, so the 83 cents is 83 cents a month?

MS. HUGHES:  Per customer, yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  On the distribution portion of the bill.

MS. HUGHES:  Correct, for our residential customers.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.

Now, I wasn't clear earlier about the space.  If you, say, potentially merge with another utility do you have incremental space within that facility to accommodate new employees?

MR. MILES:  We could, yes.  The design of the renovation allows for the construction of a mezzanine level within the building.  And we have currently sized that mezzanine to meet our current needs, but it could potentially be expanded to enable another probably another 20 or so employees.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Now, if you paid a dollar for the space or the portion of the building that you are owning, if you, say, needed -- you talked earlier about needed to change up and potentially sell it -- you could sell it?

MR. MILES:  We could sell it or lease it, presumably, yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah, okay, all right.

So if, for example, the Board in this case says that they are not going to approve the ACM, what would be your alternative approach?

MR. MILES:  It's hard to speculate on that right now.  We would have to understand what the nature of that decision would look like and what kind of an impact it would have on our project and on our financial situation.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you, those are my questions.

DR. ELSAYED:  Just a couple of questions.  I wasn't sure what class estimate -- the 8.1 million, what class is that?

MR. MILES:  It's based on a Class C estimate.

DR. ELSAYED:  Class, according to my understanding, just is the level of accuracy of the estimate; is that correct?

MR. MILES:  That's correct, yes.

DR. ELSAYED:  Do you have a contingency specifically identified in this project?

MR. MILES:  There is a contingency of, is it 400,000?  About $400,000, yes.

DR. ELSAYED:  400,000?  And if I understood you correctly, the -- you have already contracted the construction management and the architectural components?

MR. MILES:  We have entered into a contract with the architectural --


DR. ELSAYED:  For those.

MR. MILES:  -- yeah, but not the -- we haven't entered into a construction contract yet.

DR. ELSAYED:  Which you will be tendering -- sorry, which part is going to be tendered?

MR. MILES:  All of the materials and the labour associated with doing the renovations will be tendered.  The construction management contract, which is just sort of a project management kind of a function, is not intended to be tendered, it's intended to be awarded to the construction company Melloul-Blamey, who is doing the entire development, the condos and everything else.

DR. ELSAYED:  So can you tell me roughly the percentage of the piece that's going to be tendered compared as a percentage of the 8.1 million?

MR. MILES:  It would be about 1 million of the 8.1 million would not be tendered, would be awarded to the architectural firm and the construction management company.

DR. ELSAYED:  So would it be fair to say, then, that the balance is pretty much established, fixed?

MR. MILES:  The balance of --


DR. ELSAYED:  Because, like, if you are talking 8.1 million of which just over 1 million will be tendered, which you really don't know what that -- the tender would be.

MR. MILES:  It will be 7 million of the 8.1 million will be tendered.

DR. ELSAYED:  Oh, the 7 million will be tendered, okay.

MR. MILES:  Yup.

DR. ELSAYED:  I thought it was the other way around.

MR. MILES:  No, the majority of it will be tendered.

DR. ELSAYED:  So your major risk would be that that tender would fall within your estimate plus the contingency that you have.

MR. MILES:  Correct, correct.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay, thank you.

MR. JANIGAN:  I just have a question on the process.  You're seeking from this Panel a ruling as to the prudence and need for this project, but the ACM application itself won't be made until 2021, as I understand it; is that correct?

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct --


MR. VELLONE:  So can I -- I will maybe jump in.  This is based on our interpretation of the Board's advanced capital module, new funding models for LDCs.  That process provided for a more streamlined approach to what were previously incremental capital module requests.  Instead of waiting to do a big application next year, an applicant could choose to bake in what is usually in an ICM request as part of a cost-of-service application.  That's what they have done here so you get it out of the way while you're at a hearing.  At that point in time the Panel would be making a determination much like an ICM application on need and prudence, prudence of the $8.1 million in this case.  The subsequent application that happens later is actual costs are now known, the Board can evaluate actual costs against what were previously approved.  If the applicant overspent the Board might disallow portions of that overspending or not, but it is really a true-up on a decision that was made by in this case this Panel on need and prudence previously.

Does that help?

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, so the principle is that the next Panel -- let's assume that this Panel approves the need and the prudence of this project.  The next Panel is -- your position is the next Panel would be bound by that finding and the only thing that was left for them to do was to consider the actual costs in a kind of a true-up application; is that what --


MR. VELLONE:  That is our reading of the Board's advanced capital module funding mechanism process, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, thank you.

Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  I have prepared a compendium and a separate document.  The separate document's for the other issues, but I thought we should mark them at the same time.  So I have a compendium, if we can mark that.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  That will be Exhibit K1.5.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  SEC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR ENERGY+ PANEL 1.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then there is a second document.  It's stapled and it says "Appendix A, bill impact scenarios".
EXHIBIT NO. K1.6:  APPENDIX A, BILL IMPACT SCENARIOS.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be Exhibit K1.6, and we do have printouts of that to pass up to the Panel.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And just so the Panel -- we will get to the details of the spreadsheets in the afternoon's issues, but just so we can be clear of what this is for the Panel and for others, this was -- in technical conference question SEC 11, we had asked Energy+ to essentially provide the bill impacts for all the runs of the various cost allocation scenarios, and Ms. Hughes had mentioned that earlier this morning.

In appendix A to Energy+'s questions on the evidence filed by TMMC in the end of February, they provided a version of this spreadsheet with what they believed was the bill impacts of Mr. Pollock's evidence.

I have provided an updated version of that with the --Mr. Pollock made some corrections to his evidence in response to interrogatories, and this just updates for that bill impact.  I want to just make sure with Energy+, those numbers are correct.  Those are, in your understanding, the correct bill impacts of Mr. Pollock's March 1st evidence?

MS. HUGHES:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right, so I hope that's clear.  We will get to that later on, but I just wanted to flag that issue.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:


Panel, I want to start off talking about the Southworks, just following up on some of my friends' questions.  And maybe the best thing to have in front of us is page 30 of our materials.  And this was a table that Mr. Garner brought you earlier on, and it's the comparison table between Energy+'s facilities and some other facilities that have been provided.  Do you see that?

MR. MILES:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And just so I am correct, you provided a similar document in your evidence, and all that was asked in this interrogatory was to break out the Energy+ facilities into separate parts.  So it is your information about Waterloo, in Power Milton, hydro distribution PUC, that is what you were relying on in your application.

MS. HUGHES:  So we did in fact provide a similar schedule with just the combined facilities.  There are portions of the table at the bottom, however, that SEC asked us to provide, which was give us the highest range.  So that is additional information that was provided.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But the concept of comparing Energy+ to others, this is in your pre-filed evidence, correct?

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right, thank you very much. So I want to understand what has happened.  You originally filed in the pre-filed evidence an application for the Southworks ACM facility to be $5 million, and I believe that was about 4.5 million in capital construction costs and, I think, 500 in -- I believe you called it furniture costs.

MR. MILES:  That's correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And at the time, you believed that was a class C estimate.  Do I have that correct?

MR. MILES:  No, I think we clarified that.  It was a class D estimate at that point in time.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand that's what -- but the original evidence, you believed at the time it was class C estimate.

MR. MILES:  Yes, it was labelled incorrectly in the when we filed with the original application.  It was labelled a class C estimate, but in fact, in clarifying it with Melloul-Blamey who pulled it together, it was based on a class D estimate.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the original estimate that originally went to your board of directors an approval of what you call a facility plan, which is the plan for all three of these buildings.

MR. MILES:  That's correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And they thought, when they made their initial approval, it was class C estimate?

MR. MILES:  That's fair to say.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  And then you revised your evidence with the additional evidence filed after the settlement conference, based on the revised estimate that brought the cost up to $8.1 million, correct?

MR. MILES:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that is based on a class C estimate?

MR. MILES:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the $8.1 million, I understand, is $7.6 million in capital costs and the furniture costs are still 500,000.  Do I have that correct?

MR. MILES:  No, the furniture costs have gone down slightly, based on some more analysis, to about $400,000.  The construction costs are about 6.7, and the balance is furniture and soft costs, which includes the architectural fees.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just want to understand what's changed so I can compare sort of apples to apples. What was the capital cost -- at the $4.5 million, that's the capital costs?

MR. MILES:  I believe it was 4.1 in the very original.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It was 4.1 and then 900,000 were what you call soft costs.

MR. MILES:  And furniture, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the revision of the capital costs takes you to $6.7 million?

MR. MILES:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So it's about a 63 percent increase on the capital costs, if I am just comparing 6.7 to 4.1?

MR. MILES:  Yeah.  Subject to doing the math myself, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we just look at the overall change from -- we look at it as a package, the 8.1 million from the 5 million, it's about a 62 percent change in costs, correct?

MR. MILES:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right and if we look at the -- so as I understand what a class C estimate is, and this is based on -- if I am looking at the table where you provide highest class estimate percentage, under class C for Southworks, you have plus 20 percent.  And for garden which is at class C, you have plus 30 percent.

Am I reading that to understand that class C estimate is plus or minus 20, and a class D estimate is plus or minus 30 percent?

MR. MILES:  That's correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you were at a class D estimate that has a plus or minus 30 percent, but it turns out to be that it ends up being 62 percent higher when you move up, correct?

MR. MILES:  That's what happened in our case, yes.  As I mentioned before, it was -- the class D estimate was prepared before the property was even acquired by the developer, so before all the due diligence work that was done.  So in fact, it ended up being outside of the range.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So what assurances can we have that the class C estimate, whatever the resulting amounts are, at the very least, it's -- how do we know that it's not going to be more than 20 percent, that it's not going break through that range?

MR. MILES:  A couple of things.  The due diligence has been completed.  We know what the condition of the building is, we know what has to be done to the base portion of the building.  We know what the environmental solution is, we have costed that out.  And about 30 percent of the design work has been completed by the architect at this point.

So that's led to much more certainty around what the estimate is at this point.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  A class D estimate would have other uncertainties, obviously.  And for that, it has a higher range.

MR. MILES:  That's right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But yet you were double the rage ultimately.

MR. MILES:  That's right, it was, as it turned out in this case.  Those ranges are, it's my understanding -- again, I am not a construction expert, but it's my understanding that those are kind of guidelines.  You are not -- it's not expected that you are going to fall, you know, bang on within them.  But on average over a large number of projects that's kind of how it's been developed.

But an individual project may fall outside of the range, especially at the class D stage.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What about the class C stage?  There's still a possibility that this will fall out of the range.

MR. MILES:  There is, but I would say much less because we are at the point now, with all the big unknowns now known and costed out, we have a -- I characterize it as budget that we can strive to live within.

So we can make choices now about fit and finish an materials to stay within that budget.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It's not a class B estimate, correct?

MR. MILES:  It's not a class B estimate, no.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You haven't got that far in the definition.

MR. MILES:  No.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I just look at the three different projects we've talked about, the Southworks, the Garden Avenue and the Bishop, as I understand Bishop as compared to the other which is are retrofitting a building and doing much more work, this is really just, you know, a renovation of an existing facility that's already at least in somewhat -- at least it's generally used for the purposes of what it's going to look like afterwards, correct?

MR. MILES:  That's correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So when we look at the capital costs per square footage and we see it being so much lower than the other two buildings, that is reflective of that.

MR. MILES:  That's right.  It's also reflective of the fact that the entire Bishop Street facility does not need to be renovated.  It's primarily the administrative kind of portion of it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So why when we compare, when we look at Waterloo, in power Milton PUC, which are completely new buildings or complete renovations, why shouldn't we compare those capital costs per square foot to the capital costs and square foot really of the Garden Avenue and the Southworks facility?  Why isn't that the better comparison?

MR. MILES:  What we attempted to do in the original facilities business plan was to kind of look at our entire requirements both down in Brant County as well as in the Cambridge territory.  So we presented a total of what we believed were -- would be the costs of, you know, the Southworks facility, renovating our Bishop, and doing a shared facility with Brantford that would meet the needs of our utility for another 50 or 60 years.  And then we compared that to the, you know, the Waterloos and the other utilities that had built out similar facilities in concept that would provide their administrative and their operational needs.

Yes, it looks different in terms of the number of buildings, but we felt it was comparable to look at it on that basis as well.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we look at really the comparable work, which is Southworks and Garden Avenue, we see $332 per square foot up to 370 for the Southworks and we compare just those two to Waterloo, Innpower, it's significantly higher.

MR. MILES:  Yeah, the energy -- a couple things.  The Waterloo ones and some of the other ones were a number of years ago, so costs have inflated since then.  But also when you are looking at Waterloo as an example, that includes a large portion of that building is operational space, which has a lower cost per square foot than administrative type space does.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But correct, the Garden Avenue is going to be operational space, primarily?

MR. MILES:  Garden Avenue is mixed operational as well as admin.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  When I look at those two together compared to the others -- and I recognize nothing -- no two buildings are the same, and there's probably unique features that go in either direction for all these projects, but it's significantly higher, and I am trying to understand why ratepayers should be -- if benchmarking is important, why that shouldn't be a concern?

MR. MILES:  I guess I would say that at the end of the day with the majority of this project being tendered out we expect to arrive at a market-driven cost for the facility, and costs have gone up over the past number of years, particularly in the construction field.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But just to be correct, when you say you are going to put something out for tender it's based on a design you have decided to do; correct?

MR. MILES:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So it's the construction of a design you have made; correct?

MR. MILES:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It's not the -- you haven't -- no one has looked at or no one has -- you can't determine the market for what the market is for a design, it's just the costs of that design.

MR. MILES:  We have made some decisions along the way, though, as we have looked at different design alternatives, you know, at one point that 8.1 million was actually about 9.7 million based on one particular design, and we felt that that was unreasonable and there were some components of it that were unnecessary, so we made some changes to bring it back down to the 8.1 --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And just so -- I want to just finally follow up on something that was said in response to Mr. Garner's comments when he had asked you -- once you had decided that you were going to go with an administration-only facility, as I understand it you did no analysis to determine if doing it through what you have decided to do with respect to Southworks as compared to any other option with respect to the administrative-only building; do I have that correct?

MR. MILES:  That's correct.  I mean, at some -- we have been looking for a solution for almost since I have been there, almost seven years now.  So at some point we had to make a decision to move forward, and it was our belief that by tendering the bulk of this work out that we would end up with a competitive cost versus other alternatives.

And as I mentioned previously, there's not very many alternatives in the Cambridge market for 21,000 square feet of office space.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you didn't -- you may believe that, but there's no analysis that was done, you didn't hire a real-estate agent to look into that; did you?

MR. MILES:  We did not.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

Can I ask you, if we can turn to page 3 of the compendium.  Just so I understand the -- how this has come about through the proceeding.  As I understand originally in your application you sought to recover about $511,000 with respect to the incremental costs of the transition to monthly billing?  We see this on page 3?  Do I have that correct?

MS. HUGHES:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And by incremental costs, as I understand it, those were meant to mean additional costs that you incurred with respect to the requirement to move to monthly billing that were not built into rates.

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I think you mentioned this in your examination-in-chief.  It only related to the Cambridge and North Dumfries service territory, as Brant was already on monthly billing, so those costs would have been built in; correct?

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand, the costs portion, it was 132,000 in 2016 you incurred and $365,000 in costs in 2017 -- or 366 in 2017; correct?

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And originally as the application was filed you had no offsetting amounts for any benefits that you would have incurred; correct?

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so as I understand you filed additional evidence, and at page 9 of -- this is from your additional evidence -- you now included what you call the estimated cash flow benefit in 2016 of about $17,000 and in 2017 about $74,000; do I have that correct?

MS. HUGHES:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And when you talk about cash flow, as I understand what you are referring to in the calculation you have made -- and you can see this on the next page, where you explain how you have come to the calculation -- you say:

"Energy+ estimates the incremental interest income that would have occurred from advancing the collection of residential accounts upon adoption of monthly billing.  The calculation of cash flow benefits is outlined in the table below.  In the DVA continuities there are amounts that are presented in principal adjustments in 2016 and 2017."

So really what you consider cash flow benefits are the increase in interests that would have occurred or did occur because of the additional cash flow you had from moving to monthly billing.  Do I understand that correct?

MS. HUGHES:  So as we were going through this process and reflecting on the accounting order with respect to this account, we certainly identified that we were looking for net benefit cost savings.  So our initial evidence was filed on the basis of looking for reductions in costs.  So through this process we identified that, you know, there could be an argument that from a cash flow perspective converting to monthly billing results in us essentially getting one month's worth of revenue earlier, and so that is why we updated our evidence to reflect what we considered to be a cash flow benefit in converting to monthly billing.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  When your rates are set -- when your rates were set in 2014, how is cash flow accounted for?  How were you given an amount for cash flow in those rates?

MS. HUGHES:  So we are given a cash flow amount based on the working capital allowance.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But the working capital allowance is the base of how you do that.  And as I understand in your evidence is we asked you -- and you can look at page 4 of the compendium -- to calculate the working capital savings from moving to monthly billing for each of 2016 and 2017, and the first part of that response is essentially you didn't do it.  Do I have that correct?

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.  At the time in responding to this we weren't making the connection in terms of the working -- the question you were asking with respect to the working capital benefit versus the cash flow benefits in the accounting order.

So at -- so we did not do -- at this time we did not do any analysis with respect to a cash -- the working capital savings.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And have you done that up to today?  Have you --


MS. HUGHES:  No, we actually didn't see a methodology in which to do that.  Energy+ has not conducted a lead-lag study, nor did it conduct one in its prior application.  So we didn't have the basis on which to start doing a lead-lag study.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Or any estimates; correct?

MS. HUGHES:  Pardon me?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Or any estimate.

MS. HUGHES:  Or any -- we did not do an estimate.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I go to page 12 of our materials, we asked you -- built into the 2014 revenue requirement, how much was for working capital.  And I understand your response is about $1.49 million; do I have that correct?

MS. HUGHES:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, you're aware that the Board did an analysis a number of years ago and changed the default value of working capital from 13 percent to 7.5 percent; you're aware of that?

MS. HUGHES:  Yes, I am.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  If I could ask you then to turn to page 18, this is from -- sorry, 17, this is the Board's letter when it made that change.  Do you see that?

MS. HUGHES:  June 3rd, 2015?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  And if we flip over to page 22, this is the appendix and the Board did an analysis of how it actually got to the 7.5 percent.  Do you see that?

MS. HUGHES:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand it, there was a number of different components of how it got from 13 percent to 7.5 percent.  But one of the components was that now everybody is on monthly billing at that time.  Is that your understanding as well?

MS. HUGHES:  I believe that was one component.  The letter actually outlines a number of different components that was derived to reduce the working capital.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I agree -- I don't disagree with that.  But one of them was the move to monthly billing, correct?

MS. HUGHES:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And we see the monthly billing reflected in what is known as the service lag, correct?

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And there it's 15.2 days, which is --you see the calculation at the bottom.  It explains how it got there, and that's really on an average month divided by 2, correct?

MS. HUGHES:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's the calculation.  So we asked you in page 23 -- or we provided you with an analysis and asked you to opine on it, I guess is the best way to put it.  And all that we did in this analysis was take the work -- the Board's analysis of how it got to 7.5 and made the one adjustment in the service lag of what would be the working capital allowance if you had bi-monthly billing.  Do you see that?  And that's why the service lag in the bottom table is 30.42.  Do you see that?

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct, you doubled the service lag, correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that resulted in a difference, keeping everything else equal, of 4.2 percent, correct?

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And we put to you is that not a fair reflection, and one of the comments you provided back to us was not all our customers were on monthly billing -- bimonthly billing before the switch.  Do I have that correct?

MS. HUGHES:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so you provided, on page 24 of our compendium, an analysis.  If you looked at the 2014 revenue requirement, what percentage of revenue was billed on monthly versus bimonthly.  Do I have that correct?

MS. HUGHES:  Yes, it was an estimate of the number.  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so if we flip over to page 25, we did an analysis to get a sense of what was the revenue in the 2014 case, using all the classes, that was billed monthly versus bimonthly before the change.  And do we have the analysis correct here?

MS. HUGHES:  So, yes, that's -- that's your calculation, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, is it not correct?

MS. HUGHES:  Yes, based on what we provided, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So roughly about 50 percent of the revenue that was billed was on a bimonthly basis, and 50 percent was on a monthly basis, correct?

MS. HUGHES:  Correct.

MR. VELLONE:  For the sake of clarification, distribution revenue?  Is that what you are talking about?

MS. HUGHES:  Yes, distribution revenue.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, I used the same numbers you used in the undertaking response.  But yes, it's distribution revenue.

So at page 26, we have rerun the numbers.  And as you can see, the service lag drops to 22.8; do you see that?

MS. HUGHES:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that is a difference of 2.1 percent.  If you just isolate out the change in monthly billing.  Do you see --


MS. HUGHES:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Do you accept the math?

MS. HUGHES:  Yes, I accept the math.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You may not agree with where I am going, but you accept the math?

MS. HUGHES:  Yes, I see the math.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  So let me then ask you if we take 2.1 percent and reduce -- you were given 13 percent in 2014 as the -- the working capital allowance was, using 13 percent, got you to $1.489 million.  And instead we now -- we recalculated that amount and say you get 11.9 percent, which is a reduction of 2.1 percent.

That gives about a $241,000 difference in the working capital allowance.  Do you accept that number, subject to check?

MS. HUGHES:  Yes, I have done that calculation.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Why is that not the appropriate calculation to determine, on an annualized basis, what the savings were from moving to monthly billing?

MS. HUGHES:  So I would offer a couple of things.  In the terms of the underlying lead-lag study with the Board's papers based on 7 LDCs, so it's looking at the entire working capital allowance calculation.  So we have -- Energy+ has not done a lead-lag study, so it's difficult for us to assume that we would get the resulting working capital allowance that's been provided in your analysis.  So that is one factor in terms of our thought process.

The other thing is the monthly billing we've done on a distribution revenue perspective, but the gross revenues and the collections are different.  So we haven't gone to do an analysis of the weighting based on that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, let's break those two down.  The first thing -- help me understand.  All I have done is isolated out the monthly billing and the other billing.  The rest doesn't matter.  I assume your numbers probably look different than others on the billing lag and all the other things.

But all I am doing is isolating out the service lag.

MS. HUGHES:  But if we are being asked to use working capital, any change in working capital to reflect a cash flow benefit, then my expectation would be the working capital allowance is based on Energy+'s actual working capital allowance.

And in light of not having a lead-lag study, we can't say definitively that that's our working capital percentage allowance.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just so I am correct, the 13 percent was not based on a specific -- it was based on however the Board determined that amount at the time.  It was not specific to Energy+, a calculation specific to Energy+.

MS. HUGHES:  No, it was an established percentage made by the Board, correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, with respect to the second comment about you shouldn't be -- I took you're saying you shouldn't use distribution revenues to come up with --


MS. HUGHES:  No, I am not necessarily saying that.  I think there's a -- maybe you will ask Dan to help clarify that a little bit.

MR. MOLON:  I think using distribution revenue as the factor in determining what percentage of collections are attributed to monthly billing would be inappropriate, because the proportion of distribution revenue by class compared to the gross collections by class varies quite significantly, and most of the collections are subject to the classes with the higher consumption.

So the residential and GS less than 50 customers that were affected by the transition to monthly billing wouldn't make up 50 percent of -- or roughly 50 percent of the entire gross collections.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What would they -- like help me understand what the difference between, I guess, your view of how it should be done versus mine for this part of the calculation.  How far off are we talking about here?

MR. MOLON:  I would assume that the number would be closer to 30 percent.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so even if we used 30 percent, and we did the same calculation that I did, it would still lead to a significantly higher offsetting amount than you're saying is appropriate, that you are seeking in this application, correct?

MS. HUGHES:  So we've computed an annual estimated cash flow benefit in the year of 2017 of 74,000.  So we have included an estimated cash flow benefit, based on the methodology we felt was an appropriate proxy for the actual benefit of collecting the one month in advance for both the residential and GS greater than 50 class.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But on a basis that is entirely different than how cash flow is built into your revenue requirement, correct?

MS. HUGHES:  It's a different methodology.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Can I ask you to turn to page 27 -- sorry, 28, my apologies.  This is with respect to the OEB cost assessment account that you are also seeking recovery for, correct?

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand the 2016 amount that you are seeking recovery is for 70,000, roughly, 2017 is for 99,000, and then there's an interest amount; do I have that correct?

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What is your annual materiality threshold in this application?

MS. HUGHES:  So the materiality threshold in this application is 175,000.  But we also will have an additional claim for 2018 which is approximately 90,000.  So Energy+'s view was in total that was over the materiality.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And your view it's on a total basis, not on an annual basis.

MS. HUGHES:  In the case of the regulatory variance account, yes, that would be our understanding.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And just, I guess we can debate that in the argument phase, but just so I understand, on an annual basis for 2017 -- for 2016, 2017, and I guess from what you have said about 2018, you are below the materiality threshold; correct?

MS. HUGHES:  On an annual basis, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right, thank you very much, panel, those are my questions for this part of the hearing.

MR. JANIGAN:  Board Staff?
Cross-Examination by Ms. Djurdjevic:

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, we have just a couple brief questions.  If we could pull up VECC TCQ 63A and B -- so it's about the various approvals -- I will just wait a minute until we have that on the screen.  So part A of the question was about some outstanding approvals, and I believe the witnesses indicated this morning that one of those, namely the site plan approval, from the City of Cambridge was obtained just last week?  Did I understand that correctly?

MR. MILES:  That's correct, yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  And what about the severance approval for Energy+ portion of the building?

MR. MILES:  That's expected to occur sometime during the month of April.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, and is there any -- my understanding was it was supposed to have already been obtained.  Is there any reason for the delay or that could possibly continue such that you wouldn't be getting it in April 2019 and it might be later?

MR. MILES:  No, my understanding in talking to the developer and the architects who are looking after the severance approval application, they are not anticipating any significant delays.  They expect it to happen in April.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Thanks.  So now let's look at the part B of the question.  This is about building permits, and there's 7 -- oh, are we on the right document?  So it's TCQ 63 part B, okay?

So there is a number of permits that are required for the Southworks project, and the -- so I understand -- well, let's just go through them one by one to see what you have obtained and what's outstanding and if there's a reason or an explanation that you can provide that would also be helpful.

So the firewall building permit, that has been obtained?

MR. MILES:  It's been completed, and the firewall is actually already built, yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  But the permit's also been obtained; is that right?

MR. MILES:  Yes, yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Excellent.  And the demolition permit, that's been obtained?  Work is ongoing?

MR. MILES:  That's been obtained, yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And the third one, the building permit for base building C and D, that was supposed to be obtained January 2019?

MR. MILES:  That -- I think we corrected that date on record at the technical conference.  That should read January 2020.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.

MR. MILES:  That's when the construction is anticipated to start to occur, is in 2020.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, then the next item is the building permit for event space, building D.  Has that also been deferred?

MR. MILES:  No, that has been obtained, and that work is underway.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And the building permit for the two residential towers and podiums, to the extent -- they were supposed to be obtained February 2019?

MR. MILES:  I would have to confirm whether that's been obtained or not.  As I mentioned, the site plan approval had to be obtained first, and that was just last week, so I am not sure where the building permits stand.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Can I just get a quick undertaking that you will respond to us on that?

MR. MILES:  Yes, I will.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be Undertaking J1.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO RESPOND TO BOARD STAFF RE:  THE BUILDING PERMIT FOR THE TWO RESIDENTIAL TOWERS AND PODIUMS OBTAINED FEBRUARY 2019 AND THE BUILDING PERMIT FOR NORTH BASE BUILDINGS THAT WAS ALSO TO BE OBTAINED FEBRUARY 2019.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So then we look at item 6, which is the building permit for north base buildings that was also to be obtained February 2019.

MR. MILES:  We will give you an undertaking on that one as well.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  We will just make that part of --


MR. MILES:  Sure.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  -- Undertaking J1.1.

And then the building permit for the Energy+ part of the building.

MR. MILES:  That's where it should read January 2020.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  January 2020, okay.

And so you may have answered this in earlier questions, but the lag in obtaining the building permits for Energy+'s part of the building as opposed to other parts, that relates to the parking issue that you discussed this morning, or are there other causes for the delay?

MR. MILES:  No, the building permits is my understanding that they cannot be obtained until the overall site plan is approved for the entire development.  And then the building permits themselves tend to be rather routine in the sense that you have to comply with certain safety noise issues and whatnot, but there's typically not much risk in terms of getting a building permit once you have site plan approval.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So -- and you indicate you have already -- you just got the site plan approval, so is it going to take another nine months to get the building --


MR. MILES:  No, the expectation is within the next month or two the building permits would be awarded for the construction of the condominium towers.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  All right.  So those dates that you are talking about being January 2020 --


MR. MILES:  That's for ours, yes, that's for our portion of the building --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That is still 2020.

MR. MILES:  Yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  All right, okay.  I think those are all my questions.  Let me just do a quick check.  Yeah, those are all my questions for the panel on these issues.  Thank you very much.
Questions by the Board:

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  The Panel has a couple of questions.

DR. ELSAYED:  My question actually is just a clarification on an earlier question that I asked.  Can you just remind me how much was the contingency you said you included in the estimate for the building?

MR. MILES:  Included in the 8.1 million?

DR. ELSAYED:  Whatever contingency you quoted.  That actually is my question as to on what part of the --


MR. MILES:  Let me just look it up so I can give you a precise number.

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes.

MR. MILES:  It's $375,000 is the contingency amount that's included in the 8.1.

DR. ELSAYED:  So that -- correct me if I am wrong -- that represents roughly less than 5 percent of the cost?

MR. MILES:  That's correct, yes.

DR. ELSAYED:  How did you determine the contingency?

MR. MILES:  We really at this stage that we are at with the design work that's been done and the amount of stuff that we know -- the contingency was really meant to be attributable to potential inflation that may occur between now and when we actually start construction of the project.  So that's why -- that's what it was meant to be attributable to.

DR. ELSAYED:  But you don't yet know the cost -- the part that you are tendering, you don't know what the cost is going to be.

MR. MILES:  It's an estimate at this stage, yes, that's correct.

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes, the 6.7 million.

MR. MILES:  Yes.

DR. ELSAYED:  So there's uncertainty in that cost.

MR. MILES:  Yes, there is.

DR. ELSAYED:  And have you accounted for that uncertainty and that risk in the 5 percent contingency?

MR. MILES:  The way we are approaching this is the -- as I mentioned earlier, with respect to the overall 8.1 million, we view that as a budget that we are going to manage to -- so if we find that we tender out a component of the construction for, say, glazing for some of the interior offices and it comes back much higher than we anticipated, we would change that material and look for lower cost materials to stay within that 8.1 million budget.  So we really just focused the contingency amount, like I said, on the inflationary component that we expect could occur.

DR. ELSAYED:  You don't expect to try, once you get the tenders, to manage the scope of the project to try and fit it within your estimate?

MR. MILES:  We don't anticipate that the overall scope will change at this point, because we know the big parameters dealing with the base building, the environmental mitigation solution, the roof, the windows.  Those types of things are known, so those costs are actually known as well.

The firewall is now actually built and we know what that cost is, and it did fall within the estimate that we originally had for the firewall.  So as we keep advancing, there's more and more certainty with respect to what the actual should be relative to what our estimate is.

DR. ELSAYED:  And the contract that you expect to sign for this, the tender amount, what type of a contract do you anticipate?  Is that a fixed-price contract?  A cost plus contract?

MR. MILES:  No, it's a construction management --


DR. ELSAYED:  No, sorry, I am not talking about the construction management.  I am talking about the actual -- the construction.

MR. MILES:  So that is what we are going to tender out.

DR. ELSAYED:  That is what I meant.  So what kind of contract do you anticipate that to be?

MR. MILES:  It will be fixed.

DR. ELSAYED:  Fixed price?

MR. MILES:  For example, we will tender out the construction of interior doors and walls.  The intention is that will be a fixed contract.

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes, the contract will be structured such that that's all you get.

MR. MILES:  Yes.

DR. ELSAYED:  Any additional cost is at the risk of the contractor?

MR. MILES:  That's correct.  That's our intent.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you, that's all I have.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, I have no questions.  Mr. Vellone, do you have any redirect?

MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Chair, I do not.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, I think we will take our lunch break now and come back at 1:30.  And at that time, SEC will be up in terms of cross-examination on issue 3.2 to 3.7.  I have asked the court reporter to transcribe the overview that was given by the panel this morning, and possibly if you --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  We have printouts of those now for everybody, so we will pass that around right after we conclude.

MS. NEWLAND:  I should mention, Mr. Chair, that Mr. Vellone kindly sent the opening statements to the TMMC folks.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much.

MS. NEWLAND:  We haven't reviewed it yet, but we have them.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  So we are adjourned until 1:30.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:21 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:34 p.m.

MR. JANIGAN:  Please be seated.  Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

I want to start off with standby rates just to help me get a better sense of your proposal.  I understand the standby rate proposal is for a standby rate to be implemented for all customers at the GS over 50 level and above?

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand what the proposal is, it's that the contract amount will be determined, and whatever the difference between the monthly peak demand is for the customer and the contracted amount, a standby rate will be applied to that difference, correct?

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the standby rate will be the distribution volumetric rate.

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So regardless of what the actual customers' monthly peak demand is, the customer in essence will pay up to the contract demand, they will pay the contract demand.

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  I wonder if we can just pause for a moment.  Is Ms. Newland not back yet?

MR. VELLONE:  She was here and stepped out, I believe.

MR. JANIGAN:  I wonder if we can just pause for a moment.  I am sure that she is...

MS. NEWLAND:  My apologies.  I was trying to round up my witnesses.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  You may proceed.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So just stepping back just to repeat that, so regardless of what an actual customer's monthly peak demand is in those classes, they will pay for no less than the contract demand; correct?

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So regardless of the reason why the customer's peak demand is below the contract demand, they will pay at least the contract demand, correct?

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so normally if a customer reduces its peak demand because of, say, conservation or simply natural load reduction or whatever other reason besides load displacement generation, they wouldn't have to pay a standby rate?

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if I understand your proposal then, if the reduction is solely based on conservation or natural load reduction, they will pay as if the load reduction was due to load displacement generation.

MS. HUGHES:  If I understand your question, in the case of a load displacement, a customer with load displacement generation, they are going to pay on the contracted amount, even if they institute conservation.

From another customer's perspective who implements conservation and reduces their load, the utility has the mechanism for a lost revenue adjustment mechanism to come into play for any reduced load subsequent to rate rebasing.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But that loss revenue adjustment is then -- those amounts are allocated to all customers
in a --


MS. HUGHES:  That's --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- so that --


MS. HUGHES:  -- based on the nature of the conservation program and the customer class that it's attributable to.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So in a situation under your proposal, if a customer has some load displacement generation, solar or some other, but they also implement load -- a conservation measure or for some -- you know, they turn more lights off just generally, they are not using as much of the facility as an example, because you cannot tell what the basis of the -- of why their load has decreased, they are still going to pay up to the contract demand; correct?

MS. HUGHES:  So they would for at least the period of one year.  So Energy+'s proposal is that it will review with the customer the annual contracted amount on an annual basis.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So let's turn to that, because I wanted to get to that.  If we go to page 34 of the compendium, we had asked you -- this is SEC 70 -- sorry, Exhibit 7, 7 SEC 40 -- we had asked you how will the applicant determine the appropriate contracted capacity.  You provide a number of factors.  Do you see that in this response?

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.  Now, this -- I guess -- this was in the context of setting the initial capacity, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MS. HUGHES:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the new load displacement generation facility, so you are setting the initial contracted demand, you're -- and as I read it, you are going to look at current historical peak loads of a customer in the absence of a load displacement generation, the size and capacity of a proposed LGG facility, understanding whether the customer requires Energy+ to be on standby to supply capacity in the absence of LGG facility not operating, and if the customer's requesting contracted level that is below the capacity of the LGG facility, how much of that load the customer curtail instantaneously to ensure that the contracted capacity level is not exceeded.  Do I have that correct?

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that's a lot of different factors that may come into consideration when you're determining your capacity level -- sorry, the contracted capacity amount; correct?

MS. HUGHES:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so how does a customer know that you -- if there's two situated customers, how do they know that they would -- that they are going to be treated equally in setting the capacity amount -- in the negotiation with Energy+ in determining what the capacity level is, they will be treated equally?  If this is -- this is not a mechanistic analysis, correct?

MS. HUGHES:  Well, I think it was intended to be mechanistic in terms of setting the initial, because there is obviously an engineering review that perhaps Mr. Sinclair could provide some context to in terms of understanding how it's possible that the capacity requested by the customer is perhaps lower than they would otherwise have using the historical.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, so is it mechanistic or
is it -- does it involve judgment of the utility?

MS. HUGHES:  I think it's a combination of both mechanistic and taking into consideration customers' other factors.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I take it just from the -- for a customer's perspective they obviously want a lower contracted capacity; correct?  And from Energy+ it is in their benefit for a higher contracted capacity.

MS. HUGHES:  Well, I can't -- I can't speak for a particular customer.  You would think -- it may be that they would be incented to go lower, but the reality is I think that they are also relying on Energy+ to be there and to have the capacity to service them if their load displacement generation is not operating.  So I think that they are incented to ensure that we have appropriate level of capacity available.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, sorry, if I am a customer and I am setting a -- my contracted amount for whatever -- if I am the one setting it, for example, and it's probably lower than I will ever need, I am not penalized in any way if ultimately my load is above the contracted capacity; correct?

MS. HUGHES:  Well, I would say at least for the year period, but I would think based on a review in the following year we would also anticipate including some contractual terms that binds the customer to be truthful around the capacity that they believe they require.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And from your perspective because -- from the utility's perspective because that -- the contract, a customer will always have to pay the volumetric charge up to the contracted amount regardless of what their actual peak load is.  The incentive from the utility's perspective is a high contracted capacity amount.  That's the economic incentives?  I am not saying you would do something inappropriate, but that's just the inherent economic incentive.

MS. HUGHES:  I would say that our economic interest is based on the revenue requirement of the cost of service to the customer and that the rates are established based on what we would expect to be the contracted level of capacity that's within the standby charge.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But when you are setting an individual customer's capacity number, the incentive from the utility's perspective, it's the opposite of a customer's perspective, is that it would be higher, it would be high.

MS. HUGHES:  We would want to ensure that it reflects the capacity required by the customer, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so we asked you at page 35, well, what happens if the applicant, Energy+, and the customer disagree on the appropriate contracted capacity, how do you resolve this dispute, because as I understand it's a negotiation, there's a negotiated contracted amount; correct?

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And what you point me to is essentially the process in the conditions of service.  Do I have that correct?

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that applies to any other aspect of a dispute between a customer and a utility.

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so as I read it, the first step is it gets escalated, I guess, to subject matter experts within the utility?

MS. HUGHES:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then if those discussions you resolve, it gets escalated to the president and CEO again of the utility, correct?

MS. HUGHES:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then if there's no resolution, it goes to the -- for independent advice of the Ontario Energy Board, correct?

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.  We would certainly -- it would not be our thought that it would take that level of escalation.

We were also asked in a technical conference question around some of the contractual terms.  So, you know, we believe that there's mechanisms that can be placed in these contracts with customers that would allow for some dispute resolution that doesn't necessarily need to take this avenue.  We haven't gotten to the point where we have determined those contractual terms.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And just to be clear, when we are talking about the Ontario Energy Board here, we are not talking about an adjudicative application before the Ontario Energy Board.  It's the complaints process the Board has --


MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- with respect to any billing dispute you may have with a customer, or a customer may have with the utility, correct?

MS. HUGHES:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So we asked you and you referenced this -- we asked you at page 37, will the applicant require the customer to enter into any contractual arrangements regarding the contracted capacity and, if so, provide a copy of the agreement.

And your response is we will require an agreement, but we haven't prepared it at this time.  Do I understand that correctly?

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you are asking the Board to approve a rate and a structure around that rate.  So explain to me how the Board can do that, if it doesn't actually know the full terms of how as you've said there could be a negotiation regarding how the capacity is going to be determined, how can the Board approve it?

MS. HUGHES:  I think we have done our best at this point to outline some of the terms and conditions that we would contemplate having in the contractual arrangements.  We did outline those in TCQ 83, I think it was VECC, where, you know, we would certainly ask the customer to incorporate their requirements and we could incorporate a dispute resolution.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you don't know what that would look like yet?

MS. HUGHES:  No, we don't at this time.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you are still asking this Board to approve?

MR. VELLONE:  I think we are getting into argument a little bit.  This is an application for just and reasonable rates.  You not being asked to approve an agreement.  The applicant hasn't filed one.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand.  Let me rephrase.  You are asking the Board to approve the rates and part of the framework of those rates and who it will be applied to will include a contract, but you don't actually have developed that contract yet.  Do I have that right?

MS. HUGHES:  Yes.  But we believe that we've outlined the mechanisms on which we would request approval for those rates.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, I think there was some discussion by the chair this morning.  But are you aware that the Board -- there was a Board Staff report that was released two weeks ago in the commercial and industrial consultation?  Are you, in a general sense, familiar with that?

MS. HUGHES:  Yes, generally.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the report, which is a Board Staff report and consultation is ongoing and things may change.  But you're aware that report proposes a capacity reserve charge that would be essentially similar to what the standby rate is intended to do?

MS. HUGHES:  Yes, we understand that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Maybe if we could turn to page 39, I have just excerpted that portion of the report.  And understand the proposal for at least customers below 5 megawatts, the proposal is that for customers with load displacement generation, the Board will apply a technology-specific capacity factor to the nameplate capacity of the generation facility.  Is that your understanding as well?

MR. BACON:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so if we turn to page 45 of the compendium, page 43 of the report, there are different capacity factors depending on technology, correct?

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As I understand it at a high level, what the capacity factor is intending to do is it's supposed to generally represent the average usage of the facility at a customer's peak over a certain period of time.

MR. BACON:  That's right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if we look the chart, for example solar would be 10 percent of its nameplate capacity, correct?

MR. BACON:  That's right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just looking, CHP, following 50 percent, correct?

MR. BACON:  That's right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Did you consider, when you were considering what way to do a standby rate, this type of approach?

MS. HUGHES:  So I would say no.  We, we focussed on -- we did look at nameplate without a capacity factor as well as gross load billing, and then the capacity charge.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And do you think this approach is fairer?

MR. BACON:  I think it's another approach.  I don't -- I think there's pros and cons to both approaches, and I don't necessarily have to get into that.  But the interesting thing about this particular -- the Board's approach is that the customer is going to pay a fixed amount on top of what they use every month.

In our approach, the amount that they are going to pay is fixed.  Does that make sense?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I guess the question is if it's fixed in either case, it's how you --


MR. BACON:  No, in the Staff's proposal, they will pay a fixed amount for standby and then pay for their usage on top of that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But, I guess, as I read it -- and I don't have necessarily a view on this approach.  As I read it, the benefit in this approach is all customers know they will be treated equally because they know what the capacity factor and the rate is, and there's not a lot of different factors that you would have to decide as -- that Energy+ would have to decide to determine the capacity factor wouldn't have to be adjusted every year.  There's that benefit?

MR. BACON:  Possibly.  As we have said, this is still in draft form.  I think the -- in my reading of the large use section, there appear to be some level of negotiation available for the capacity factor.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Would you agree with me for customers outside of the large use who don't have as much -- you would agree with me that large use customers generally have more expertise --


MR. BACON:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- than smaller customers.

MR. BACON:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So smaller volume customer, who may have load displacement generation like solar panels on their roof, wouldn't have as much expertise to determine what the appropriate capacity factor or contracted amount is, correct?

MS. HUGHES:  I think that's fair.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we turn to page 146 of the compendium, this is one of the comments that the report says.  It says, it proposes -- I am reading the second paragraph.
"Staff further proposes that any existing generators not currently subject to standby charges begin to pay CRC on a phased-in basis.  Existing installations represent an investment by a customer based on the previous rules.  At the time, any existing installation has, from an accounting perspective, depreciated over time with a concurrent increase in return.
"Staff therefore proposes that the applicable amount of the CRC applied every year increased by 10 percent of the total, reaching a hundred percent of the CRC in 10 years.  This would be in line with depreciation levels for a major asset, so the CRC is implemented only as an existing installation depreciates."

Do you see that?

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As I read this, summarizing it or trying to get a sense, it's customers who have already put in a facility before the standby rate, or the CRC in this case, they did it under the economics of the old rules, so we should phase them in.  Is that a fair characterization?

MR. BACON:  That's what it is saying, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What do you think about that approach to even your standby rates proposal?

MR. BACON:  We really haven't thought about it, to be honest with you.  I suspect it's a possibility, but we haven't put our minds to that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right, thank you very much on that issue.  I would like to move to cost allocation.  Maybe a first is to take a look at K1.6, just so I can situate ourselves, with all the various permutations that have been run, what is essentially on the table, I guess.

And am I correct that what I believe is Energy+'s proposal, maybe, if I could use that term, is the settlement updated per TCQ VECC 76.

MR. BACON:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so just to be clear, that is slightly different than the -- what was provided with the numbers in the settlement agreement; correct?

MR. BACON:  That's right, there's a few changes, minor changes, I would classify them as, but a few changes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And based on, I believe, the analysis that was done which was confirmed this morning, Toyota's expert, Mr. Pollock, proposal or his latest report is the TMC JP 11 March 1st, so at the far end.  Do I have that correct?  Is that your understanding?

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if we look at the -- if we say we look at the -- and just so we are clear of what this table shows, we have the bill impacts for the CND service territory in the first sort of box, then we have as a percentage in the second box, and then Brant service territory that changes on a dollar basis, and then the percentage in the fourth box; correct?

MS. HUGHES:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And it's all compared to the 2018 approved amount; correct?

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if we look at just -- we look at the percentages for the CND territory as I understand it, just to go through a couple, the residential customers under your proposal would see an increase of 11.2 percent, and I am looking at distribution rates only, and 21.1 percent GS over 50 negative 13.6, large user, and the large-user class, which is, you are proposing only one would be a negative 4.4 percent decrease in distribution rates --


MS. HUGHES:  Yes --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- based on those kilowatt hour assumptions made?

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MS. NEWLAND:  Excuse me, can you just refer me as to what column you're looking at, maybe the 11 percent?  I am just not following you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yeah, not a problem.  I am looking at column, settlement update TCQ VECC 76, and in the second boxes where it's CND percentage increase over 2018.

MS. NEWLAND:  Okay, thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And then when I go all the way over to the -- so I have those numbers correct?

MS. HUGHES:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if I go over to Mr. Pollock's proposal, or his evidence, the latest numbers that would flow from that, residential customers, instead of getting 11.2 percent increase, would get a 12.2 percent increase or, depending on the volume, 21.1 to 22.2; correct?

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  GS over 50 from 13.6 to 10.4 -- negative 10.4; correct?

MS. HUGHES:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Large user, instead of 4.4, depending on which large user, it would be 17.3 and then would be moving from negative 4.4 to negative 17.3, correct?

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's the other large -- not the Toyota large user; correct?

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So for Toyota it would be going from a reduction of negative 4.4 percent to negative 51.2 percent.

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So their proposal is they would pay half of what they are paying now in distribution rates.

MS. HUGHES:  Now, this is based on -- we have used the standard kilowatt volume, not the specific volume of the customer.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, I understand it's confidential and I am just -- but based on the standard, if that had been -- if their volume was the standard volume for that they would be paying half; correct?

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we just flip down now two box down just on the Brant increase here, residential customers under your proposal would be, depending on where they fall, negative 2.4 percent reduction or 5.4 percent increase; correct?

MS. HUGHES:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And Mr. Pollock, the negative 2.4 would be reduced to negative 1.5 and the residential from 5.4 would increase to 6.4; correct?

MS. HUGHES:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  GS over 50, negative 4.4 percent under your proposal would be reduced to a 0.9 percent; right?

MS. HUGHES:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  I just want to make sure we got the numbers, we have a baseline.

I want to understand just sort of what we are talking about when we talked about cost allocation generally.  And at a high level, would you agree with me that the purpose of cost allocation is to allocate the revenue requirements, that is, an approved revenue requirement, into the various classes of customers?

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And how that's broadly done is, depending on what type of cost item it is, it's allocated using various allocation factors; correct?

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And those allocation factors could be based on customers or based on -- you know, there's different versions of it, but based on their peak demand; correct?

MR. BACON:  Correct.  And the demand is typically the monthly peaks of the system or the monthly peaks of the class, so...

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the general theory is because we don't have an accounting of the assets any individual customer is using, we pool the costs in an account and we allocate them using the various factors.

MR. BACON:  That's right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We call it the pooling method, I think as some people have called it.

MR. BACON:  I classify it as a common allocation method, but there's probably other terms.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But there's exceptions to that, correct?  Sometimes the Board will or a utility when they are seeking approval from the Board will directly allocate certain costs to specific customer classes; correct?

MR. BACON:  To specific customer classes, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, am I correct about that?

MR. BACON:  That's my understanding of it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding of when that would be done is if you're able to identify -- you were able to assign one customer class a set of specific costs.

MR. BACON:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then if you do that you may make some other adjustments by removing costs.

MR. BACON:  Yeah, to ensure that you are not double-counting you have to make sure that the allocation factors are not going to cause the costs that you've directly allocated to be allocated to them again, if that makes sense.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But the starting point is we need to have an identifiable asset to a customer class; correct?

MR. BACON:  To a customer class.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. BACON:  Right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And are you aware of any Board direction or basis where the Board has said if we know that a customer class is not using an asset, we allocate it zero, we start from the opposite?

MR. BACON:  Could you ask that again?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you aware of any Board guidance or Board direction in cost allocation where instead of starting with the direct allocation idea that we know of an asset, we know that a customer class uses that asset, we are going to directly assign it, we start from the reverse proposition, where we know a customer class doesn't use a specific asset, so we are going to assign -- directly assign it zero?

MR. BACON:  Not to my knowledge, no.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, would you agree with me one way to look at how the distribution system works is that instead of looking at specific assets we look at the services that they provide, those assets provide?  So let me give you an example that may be helpful.  A service that provides electricity from a substation to your property may be transported by overhead conductor or it may be -- and that will fall into its own sub-account, USoA account, or it may be -- it may flow through an underground conductor, and that's its own USoA account, but they are really doing the same thing.  It's taking electricity from one point and it's taking it to another.

MR. BACON:  That's right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so is that a fair way we can look at various types of services within -- that a utility provides?

MR. BACON:  Okay.  So I am going to try and rephrase your question, is that could we look at a customer that uses underground or look at a customer that uses overhead and assign those costs to them and based on what they use?  Is that what you are getting at?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am just asking if one way to look at this instead of on an asset we look at services.

MR. BACON:  Possibly, I -- I -- yeah, I guess it's possible.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So another example would be poles.

MR. BACON:  Right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Poles hold up overhead conductors; correct?

MR. BACON:  Right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the opposite of poles but providing a similar service would be underground conduits.  They contain the underground conductor; correct?  They are doing the same type of service in a sense; correct?

MR. BACON:  That's right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, am I correct that Energy+ is served by seven transformer stations that step down power from transmission voltages to distribution voltages?

MR. SINCLAIR:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I correct five are owned by Hydro One Networks, one by yourself, and one jointly with Brantford Power?

MR. SINCLAIR:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, your costs for the transformer stations that you own are included in the USoA accounts, correct, and are allocated using the cost allocation model?

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The Hydro One station costs, though, are recovered as part of RTSR rates, correct?

MR. BACON:  That's right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But regardless of who owns or operates the station, it's the same service, correct?  It's taking power from transmission voltages to distribution voltages, correct?

MR. SINCLAIR:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand the difference between Mr. Pollock's approach and your approach to cost allocation, it's that you allocate some of these costs for the Energy+ transformers to all classes, where Mr. Pollock's approach is that since Toyota's only served from the Hydro One transformer station, they should be excluded from any bulk costs that Energy+ has, correct?

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I correct that he also then, at the same time, has not attempted to assign the appropriate RTS costs that reflect being served from only the Hydro One station, correct?

MR. BACON:  You are talking about Mr. Pollock's?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. BACON:  Yes.  Well, RTSR; our transmission isn't even addressed in his proposal, so.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, with respect to direct allocation more generally, as I understand your proposal involves no direct allocation to the large use class where TMMC directly assigns the feeders that's only serve it.

MR. BACON:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  With an allocation of capital contributions that it made I believe in the mid-90s  towards those feeders, or some other assets.

MR. BACON:  In our proposal, there's no direct allocation whatsoever of feeders or capital contribution.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But there is an allocation of that capital contribution.

MR. BACON:  Oh, the capital contribution, yeah.  It's allocated across the classes according to cost allocation model.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, my mistake.  Toyota directly assigns the feeders that only serve it.

MR. BACON:  That's right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It directly assigns a capital contribution, or an estimate of the capital contribution that it made in the mid-90s, correct?

MR. BACON:  Yeah.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As well as some specific meters and the relevant OM&A accounts, an allocation of relevant OM&A accounts to those assets.  Do I understand that's --


MR. BACON:  Those are based on the estimates that Energy+ provided.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand from this morning's opening comments, they are really just estimates, correct?

MS. HUGHES:  We have provided best estimates.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So we don't really know if they are correct or not.  You did the best you could, I guess.

MS. HUGHES:  We did the best we could.  I think we have -- I believe, from the perspective of the feeder costs specifically, we believe that's of a fairly good estimate from the perspective of the specific feeder costs based on best estimate information.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Why didn't you directly assign the feeder costs?

MR. BACON:  Well, okay.  First of all, going back to the evidence-in-chief, it's fairly clear that our real purpose of this application was we did a -- we focussed on harmonization because that's the customer base, okay.  And standby was on the focus as well.  And we looked at direct allocation, but certainly not to the level that we have in the last few months.

And when we read the -- well, my understanding of the -- and I probably influenced this decision, so it's probably my problem.  My understanding of it is that you directly allocate costs to the class, not to a specific customer in the class.  And so that thinking was there.  And so the costs that would be directly allocated had to apply to all the customers in the class as opposed to one specific.

Now, that can be open for interpretation; I understand that.  But that was -- that was, in my experience of doing direct allocation, that's how my experience of direct allocation has been in doing direct allocation.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand.  But as I understand it, if the feeder is dedicated -- I understand the feeder is dedicated to Toyota, correct?

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Using your proposal of one large use class, I just don't understand why you wouldn't have directly signed that feeder to that class.

MR. BACON:  Go ahead.

MR. VELLONE:  Can I try to help?

MS. NEWLAND:  No, I would rather hear it from the witness.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It doesn't matter who answers.

MS. HUGHES:  I think at the time, we were very much focussed on the fact that we had two customers in that class and we had interpreted it as being we needed to directly allocate for that class, not necessarily recognizing the feeder specific to Toyota.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, with respect to meters, Mr. Pollock's proposal is to allocate the Toyota meters to the Toyota -- his proposal for a Toyota class, correct?

MR. BACON:  Regarding meters?

MS. HUGHES:  The meters, yes.

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you'd agree with me that in a way, all meters can be directly assigned to a specific customer.  Every customer has a meter, correct, at its most basic level?

MR. BACON:  Okay, and I would kind of argue, or I would suggest that the cost allocation model does that because meters are a separate item in the cost allocation and meter costs are allocated based on the number of meters that are used and by rate class.

So it's almost -- I guess it's not quite a direct allocation.  But you take a pool of dollars of meters and you allocate it to various classes based on the number of meters.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Was Toyota's meter costs in its own sub account?

MS. HUGHES:  No, it was not.  But we could identify via work order because TMMC had recently -- I believe we had upgraded the meters.  So in that particular case, we were able to go back to a work order to determine the costs of those upgraded meters.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  For meters for other classes, are they in -- do you have sub accounts for those?

MS. HUGHES:  No, they are not.  They are pooled, they are combined, on a combined basis.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, as I understand, you currently have one large use class in which Toyota is a customer, correct?

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And there is another customer in that large use class, correct?

MS. HUGHES:  Yes, one.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding is that Mr. Pollock is proposing that there be a split essentially, and Toyota would have its own large use class.

MS. HUGHES:  That's my understanding, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you have a Toyota large use class and then really you have a second large user class, correct?   You have a second large user class where you have an identifiable customer already in it, correct?

MS. HUGHES:  I believe, yes, that would be his proposal, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So where Mr. Pollock has done direct -- has attempted with your help direct allocation in his view of how you should do it to the Toyota class, has he done it with respect to the other large user in its class?

MS. HUGHES:  No, I do not believe so.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, if the Board were to accept his approach or some approach of having a Toyota class and another large user class, if another large user came along, how would you determine which large use class to put them in?

MS. HUGHES:  Well, that was one of the questions that we raised earlier, in that we weren't sure.  I believe that Toyota has tried to respond to that interrogatory.  But we are not certain how that would be done.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What is your view on how it should be done, or if it should even be done at all?

MS. HUGHES:  I think it's fair to say that we haven't thought about that.  I think we did try to explain earlier, there are other reasons for not considering two large users.  I mean, there's only one other large user in the other class, the regulatory burden and some of the incremental effort that we believe would result from having two separate large users.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, if the basis of a large use class or a large user class is partially of having your own large user class is partially that you are served with dedicated access.  That's what I understand is one of the basis of Mr. Pollock's view that Toyota should have its own class.  Is that your understanding as well?



MS. HUGHES:  Yes, I think -- yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are there other customers and other classes on your system that are in a similar situation? Maybe not exact, but have --


MR. SINCLAIR:  No, there isn't a similar situation on our distribution system.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  There's no other users in any other class that could have directly assignable costs?  I mean, I recognize not served directly out of a station, but --


MR. SINCLAIR:  That's sort of a bit of a different question.  There's no other customer that's served with this arrangement of exclusive use feeders.  In terms of direct assignment, that's one of the issues as got identified certainly in my colleague Sarah Hughes' commentary that other customers may request similar treatment which could cause us an issue as well, because we could have many customers request direct assignment and then us have to record how much line is servicing them, how much secondary, how many transformers, like, on a customer-specific basis.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if the Board gives Toyota its own class and another customer in another class of GS -- your intermediary class or GS over 50 class and asks for a similar treatment, why wouldn't it be appropriate for them to have a similar treatment as well?

MR. SINCLAIR:  It could get very onerous in terms of certainly our tracking.  Right now all our assets are tracked on a pooled basis.  We could be setting up the situation where for every customer we somehow have to track how many assets are serving each of our up to 65,000 customers, so somehow we would have to figure out how we break out, say, an overhead feeder line for, you know, say 1,000 residential customers or 2,000 residential customers that it's supplying, how are we going to divide that up on a customer basis, on a load basis, and as you go on an overhead feeder it's very rarely exclusively one class.  It's mix of residential, general service less than 50 kilowatt, and the other classes, so you would have to somehow divide up all those assets.  Theoretically it's possible, but in practice it would be very difficult for us to do without a significant investment in how we track every single asset and how we measure it.

The distribution system is also very dynamic in terms of, it's not a fixed system, it changes, the network changes as growth occurs, as we do maintenance.  So we are switching assets around on a regular basis so that can affect what feeder is supplying an individual customer in a given year versus another year or another month, so it becomes a very complicated situation very quickly if we started to roll that out to other customers.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you'd understand from the customer's perspective if some customers are getting that treatment they would think it would be fair that they also get that treatment, correct?

MR. SINCLAIR:  From a customer's perspective, some would, yes.  Some would benefit, some would lose.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me ask you about LV charges.  As I understand your revised proposal, it's to exclude the embedded distributor from LV charges?

MR. SINCLAIR:  It's excluding one particular embedded distributor due to the system configuration where Hydro One is already paying those charges at the Brant transformer station.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But all the other -- the other embedded distributors are charged LV charges?

MS. HUGHES:  No, I don't think we have any rate to the LVT, low voltage charges.

MR. SINCLAIR:  Oh, not for the LV, sorry, I was referring to the RTSR.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I'm talking about LV rates.  As I understand your revised proposals do include embedded distribution from those charges.

MR. SINCLAIR:  From the LV charges, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, so no embedded distributors are charged LV under your revised proposal, correct?

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. SINCLAIR:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But for all other classes you propose to include them, correct?

MR. SINCLAIR:  Yes.

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the costs are allocated based on RTSR revenues, correct, which are derived from the total load for each customer class, correct?

MR. SINCLAIR:  Yes, yes.

MS. HUGHES:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And embedded distributors are charged RGSR, correct?

MR. SINCLAIR:  Except the one case with Hydro One due to the situation of the supply at Brant TS.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the load you use in allocating the -- includes the loads that don't use LV facilities; correct?

MR. MOLON:  Sorry, can you repeat that?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The loads you use in allocating the LV includes loads that don't use LV facilities; correct?

MR. MOLON:  The loads that are used to allocate the LV are based on the total loads of the class applied to the RTSR connection rates and exclude the embedded distributors from that allocation.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions for this panel.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Next up is VECC.  Mr. Harper.


Cross-Examination by Mr. Harper:

MR. HARPER:  Thank you.  I just have a few questions, and maybe the easiest point of reference would be, Mr. Garner handed out VECC's compendium this morning, and maybe if I just refer to various PDF pages in that compendium as we are working through it, that's probably the easiest way for them to be found as we proceed.

And I would like to turn to Energy+'s response to TMMC's first set of interrogatories, and it's Interrogatory No.15.4, and that's found at PDF page 68.  And I wasn't going to propose to talk about any of the blacked-out numbers, just to reassure everybody here.  This is more at a higher conceptual level.

As I understand, the first part of this response provides a description of the facilities that are used to supply Toyota; is that correct?

MR. SINCLAIR:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. HARPER:  And as I understand it, there's 27.6 kV lines that are used to serve Toyota that are currently dedicated lines, and they are connected to Hydro One's Preston TS?

MR. SINCLAIR:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. HARPER:  And however, the poles that support those lines also support other 27.6 kV lines which are used to supply other customers in the Cambridge-North Dumfries area?

MR. SINCLAIR:  Yes, the poles also -- some of the poles also support other conductors.

MR. HARPER:  And it's these lines I would like to look at.  And would I be correct that these lines, these other lines, are also sourced out of the Preston TS?

MR. SINCLAIR:  Most of them are sourced out of the Preston TS.  One is also sourced out of our MTS 1.

MR. HARPER:  Okay.  But each of these lines are really a feeder serving different sets of customers.  Would I be correct in that?

MR. SINCLAIR:  Yes, they serve a variety of customer classes.

MR. HARPER:  And to the extent that -- let's take the lines that -- let's say the feeders serving other customers that come out of the Preston TS.  To the extent there was a problem at the Preston TS, can service on those lines be shifted over to another -- another one of the sort of TS service points that Mr. Rubenstein was talking with you about this morning -- actually, earlier this afternoon?  Or if there's a problem at the Preston TS do these customers face an outage?

MR. SINCLAIR:  In most cases our lines can be shifted to another source of supply in terms of, say we lost a particular feeder out of Preston TS, we could shift it to another feeder.  Typically it would be out of Preston TS, but we also do have feeders that tie between Preston TS, MTS 1, and in some cases we can also pick up the load down the Galt TS.  If we lost the entire Preston TS station, it would depend on the time of year whether we could pick up all that load off of the other stations.  Typically we wouldn't lose a whole station.  The way Hydro One designs the station is for maximum redundancy, so there's two transformers, two incoming 230 kV circuits, so the chances of losing all of Preston TS are fortunately quite low.

So at certain times of the year we could survive transferring all the customers from Preston TS to other stations except for Toyota, but not at all times of the year.  In the peak of the summer it would be very difficult from a loading perspective to transfer all the load to the other stations.

MR. HARPER:  And actually, I was go to go through a series of questions, but maybe you have helped me out enough to understand.

So would it be fair to say that on your system overall you have got feeders that if you lost a supply at the TS customers would be out of service but there are other feeders on your system whereby if you lost the service from that -- from that transformer you would be able to switch over to supply from another transformation delivery point?

MR. SINCLAIR:  Yes.  In general for all of our main feeders we try to have a looped system, so we will have one feeder go out so far, we will have a normal open switch that then ties to another feeder so that if we have a problem on the source of one particular feeder, we can close that switch and pick up the customers that were affected by the outage.

MR. HARPER:  I am always cautious when people say "in general", and I guess I was wanting to -- because -- and people use the word "generally" sometimes to sort of say most of the time.  But in your particular case when you say "in general", does that mean because there are certain feeders where that is not the case, or you were just using that word?

MR. SINCLAIR:  No, that's actually the case.  We don't always have a loop supply and may be best with an example, for instance, the supply to Hydro One as an embedded distributor down highway 8 in the North Dumfries area.

There isn't a 27.6 kV back-feed.  We feed into Hydro One's area.  It then supplies an 8 kV station.  There is no 27.6 kV backup.

One day, perhaps there will.  But there just physically isn't a backup supply, and the cost to get a backup supply there is considerable.  So there's a balance of how much investment we make to get a loop supply, which ideally we get everywhere.  It's financially just not always an option to get that loop supply.

MR. HARPER:  Now, I understand you got two service areas.  You've got Cambridge-North Dumfries and the Brant service area, and they are geographically separate from each other.  Am I correct?

MR. SINCLAIR:  They are.

MR. HARPER:  The are no facilities that are owned by Energy+ that interconnect those two supply areas, are there?

MR. SINCLAIR:  No, the assets in between are owned by Hydro One.

MR. HARPER:  Okay, thank you.  Those are all my questions, thank you.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much.  Next I believe it's Mr. Engelberg from Hydro One.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Would you like me to go ahead before the break?

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, I think so.  How long do you expect to be?  You have 15 minutes on your estimate.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I think I will stick to that.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, go ahead.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I do have a compendium that may make it a little bit easier.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  We will mark that as Exhibit K1.7.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.7:  HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR ENERGY+ PANEL 1


MR. ENGELBERG:  Thanks very much.  The material is in the evidence, but -- I'd like first for you to take a look at the response to VECC's technical conference question VECC TCQ 78, which is at page 89 of 126.  Are we there?

MR. VELLONE:  Sorry, did you want to get your compendium marked as an exhibit.  Did that happen?

MR. ENGELBERG:  That's up to Board Staff, counsel.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I already did that.  I marked it as Exhibit K1.7.

MR. VELLONE:  I missed that, thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Engelberg:

MR. ENGELBERG:  All right.  In the first part of your response to part B, you confirmed that Energy+'s LV charges recover Hydro One's sub transmission ST costs as a result of Energy+ being an embedded distributor, and that Hydro One's embedded distributor load in Energy+'s service territory is not included in the computation of the ST charge.

So just to make sure I understand this, you're saying here that the ST charges that Hydro One levies to Energy+, which are then recovered via LV charges from Energy+'s customers, are strictly associated with serving just the load of Energy+'s end use customers?

In other words, Hydro One's embedded load does not contribute to Energy+'s LV costs from Hydro One?

MS. HUGHES:  Yes, that's our understanding.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  Can you confirm, does any of the embedded load of Waterloo North Hydro or Brantford Power, the other two embedded distributors here, contribute to the ST charges levied by Hydro One to Energy+?

MR. SINCLAIR:  I just want the clarify, not through the LV points.  But certainly at the transformer station, we are obviously paying transmission charges to Hydro One.

MR. ENGELBERG:  All right.  Hydro One's understanding is that the Waterloo north embedded load is supplied from the Energy+ feeder connected directly to Preston TS, and Brantford is supplied from the Energy+ feeder connected directly to Brant TS, and that's why no Hydro One ST charges apply.  Is that right?

MR. SINCLAIR:  Yes, in terms of the LV.

MR. ENGELBERG:  In Energy+'s last paragraph in the same response, it's stated that some of the charges levied by Brantford Power to Energy+, which also contribute to the LV charges recovered from Energy+'s end use customers, may include some load for servicing Hydro One.  Is that correct?

MR. SINCLAIR:  Yes, in the course of going through this analysis, there is a portion of Hydro One load on 64M27 feeder out of Brantford TS that flows through Brantford Power's system to the boundary between Brantford's system and Energy+'s system.  And then flows through Energy+'s system and then there's a second metering unit that supplies Hydro One out near Blossom Avenue, County Road 48 area.  So we are billed -- Energy+ is billed by Brantford Power LV charges for the total load that is seen at the boundary between Energy+ and Brantford Power.

Energy+ is not currently passing along those Brantford Power LV charges for the Hydro One portion of the load that is seen at the boundary between Brantford Power and Energy+.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  Is it at Colborne Street East where Energy+ is embedded in Brantford Power?

MR. SINCLAIR:  Yes.

MR. ENGELBERG:  There are no other places where Energy+ is embedded in Brantford Power, are there?

MR. SINCLAIR:  Colborne Street West on the M25 feeder.  It's not utilized all the time as a supply point, but there is a revenue metering point there that is periodically utilized, yes.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Is that the delivery point that's mentioned as around Highway 53?

MR. SINCLAIR:  We would refer to it as Colborne Street West.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Is that Highway 53, or near there?

MR. SINCLAIR:  So we call it Colborne Street West, but it could be Highway 53.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Now, if you would look at the response to VECC IR number 47, I take it we know that Hydro One has embedded load at Brant County Power number 1 near Blossom Avenue that contributes to the Colborne ST east load.  Is that what you were referring to earlier?

MR. SINCLAIR:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Can you tell us how much of the energy taken from Brantford Power at the Colborne Street East delivery point is for the purpose of supplying Energy+ customers, as opposed to energy to supply Hydro One embedded load?

MR. SINCLAIR:  I can't, off the top of my head -- sorry, I'd have to look that up in terms of what the actual measured kilowatt values.  We would have that because it's two metered points.  I just don't have it at the top of my head.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  I would appreciate if you give us that, because it speaks how much the Energy+ charges from Brantford Power are due to Hydro One's embedded load.

MR. SINCLAIR:  Yes, that can be done.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  We will make that as Undertaking J1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO ADVISE HOW MUCH OF THE ENERGY TAKEN FROM BRANTFORD POWER AT THE COLBORNE STREET EAST DELIVERY POINT IS FOR THE PURPOSE OF SUPPLYING ENERGY+ CUSTOMERS, AS OPPOSED TO ENERGY TO SUPPLY HYDRO ONE EMBEDDED LOAD

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  If I could now take you to your response to an undertaking that came out of the technical conference Undertaking JTC1.6.

MR. JANIGAN:  What page is that on, Mr. Engelberg, of your compendium?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Let me see.

MR. VELLONE:  11 of 11.

MR. ENGELBERG:  11, yes.  Thank you.

MR. JANIGAN:  11 of 11, thank you.

MR. ENGELBERG:  In that response it was stated that of the $507,967 in LV costs forecast for 2019, 355,939 are from Hydro One's ST charges to Energy+ and $152,028 are from Brantford Power charges for the Energy+ load embedded in Brantford; is that correct?

MR. MOLON:  That is correct.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Given the discussion a few minutes ago about where and how much Energy+ load is embedded in Brantford Power, can you tell us or estimate how much of the $152,028 is due to Energy+'s load to serve its own end-use customers as opposed to serving the Hydro One load embedded in Energy+?

MR. MOLON:  Based on the way that the forecast is developed, we would need to use the percentage from J1.2, and that could be applied to calculate the total.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Can you give an estimate as to what that would be?  I think the information is helpful to know how much Energy+ consumers consume from Brantford Power and how much of Energy+'s LV costs are actually due to Hydro One's embedded load.

MR. MOLON:  Yes, we can undertake to prepare that.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be J1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO GIVE AN ESTIMATE OF HOW MUCH OF THE $152,028 IS DUE TO ENERGY+'S LOAD TO SERVE ITS OWN END-USE CUSTOMERS AS OPPOSED TO SERVING THE HYDRO ONE LOAD EMBEDDED IN ENERGY+.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  Those are all my questions.  Thank you.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Engelberg.

Board Staff want to go before or after the break?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I am in your hands, Panel.  I could start with a couple questions and then we break or...

MR. JANIGAN:  You have 15 minutes as your estimate.  Is that still the estimate?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes.  Possibly even less than that, though I may need to during the break just review my cross, because a lot of it has been covered, so I would like to continue after the break as well.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Well, let's say we will come back at three o'clock.
--- Recess taken at 2:38 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:02 p.m.

MR. JANIGAN:  Please be seated.  Ready to proceed?
Examination by Ms. Djurdjevic:


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, thank you, panel.  The first -- Staff just has a few questions, so we are probably not even going to use our fifteen minutes.  And the first topic is with respect to the cost allocation of bulk distribution assets.

If we could pull up VECC TCQ 67 technical conference question response, part C in particular.  I don't think we can get a very clear view of the chart here that's in the response, but all I wanted to draw to the panel's attention is the row that refers to Energy+ owned MTS, and then the column for 5 megawatt.

And can you confirm that this indicates that the customers in the 5 megawatt and embedded classes are not using Energy+ owned transformer stations.  Do we have that -- is that a correct understanding?

MR. SINCLAIR:  Yes, that is correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And transformer station equipment falls in that category of accounts that would be captured by the term bulk distribution facilities, is that correct?

MR. BACON:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And we have heard in other interrogatory responses, technical conference questions that Energy+ doesn't use any bulk distribution services to provide distribution to TMMC.  Is that correct?

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And I assume that's because they have -- they are using another transformer, a Preston transformer.

MR. BACON:  They are using a Hydro One TS, right.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Right.  So my question is about the other large use customer which, according to this chart, appears is not contributing to bulk distribution charges either.  But are they -- is that other large use customer using the Energy+ owned transformer station?

MR. SINCLAIR:  That customer is normally supplied from the Hydro-One-owned Galt TS.  During system abnormalities, there is always a possibility they could be supplied by MTS 1.  It would be on rare occasions, but our distribution system, aside from the two dedicated feeders as we discussed earlier, is typically a looped system.

So there is some capability of supplying feeders from Preston TS and feeders from Galt TS from MTS 1 during contingency situations, where we lose supply on a Galt TS feeder.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So just to understand that a bit better, generally bulk distribution assets are supposed to be allocated to large use customers.  In this case they're not, and I understand your response -- is it because it's only for contingencies that you're not required, or there's an exemption from allocating any of those bulk distribution costs to the large user?

MR. BACON:  I am trying to be helpful here.  In our proposal, they are actually allocated to the large use class.  The bulk facilities are allocated to the large use class.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Then my next questions are about the low voltage rates and whether they're applicable to embedded distributors, and we have heard that they are not.

Now, in particular with respect to the additional embedded distributor service classifications and in the BCP service area -- so that's Brantford and Hydro One -- I understand they are currently classified under the GS 50 to 4999 service classification.  Is that correct?

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And as part of that class, can you clarify whether they are paying LV rates as part of that class, aside from the plan to reclassify them as embedded distributors?

MS. HUGHES:  No, they are not.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So they are currently not paying LV rates?

MS. HUGHES:  That's correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Well, that's helpful to clarify.  So another question about the embedded distributors revenue to cost ratio.  We heard that the cost ratio of a hundred percent was selected in the last proceeding and that was, I guess, baked into the settlement.

And although I guess it's not apparent from the settlement, but can you confirm whether the revenue to cost ratio used was a hundred percent for embedded distributors?

MR. BACON:  Yes, it was a hundred percent for embedded distributors.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And was there a cost -- or a revenue to cost ratio, like a cost allocation model done that indicates what the revenue to cost ratio would have been according to that model.  I mean, my understanding is it would have been more than a hundred percent.

MR. BACON:  That's correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So what was that?  What did the cost allocation model indicate?

MR. BACON:  I'd have to pull up the model.  Do we want to do that?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  We could.  We could do it by way of undertaking, if that's all right.  So that's J1.4.

MR. BACON:  We can easily pull up the model.  It's quite easy to -- if we could just take the time to pull up the model.  We can easily look at it.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.

MR. VELLONE:  What's the file number?

MR. BACON:  It's VECC 76, yes, because our last proposal -- it would be VECC 76.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  No, we're at 2014 we are talking about, not for this year.

MR. BACON:  Oh, oh.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Just to put it in context, you have indicated that you are using a revenue to cost ratio of a hundred percent because this is consistent with what you did in the 2014 application, which was settled.

MR. BACON:  Oh, okay.  I apologize, because I didn't understand you were looking at 2014.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sorry, I should have emphasized that but yes, it was.

MR. BACON:  We will have to do that with an undertaking.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  All right.  So that will be J1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  TO PROVIDE THE RESULTS OF THE COST ALLOCATION MODEL


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And again, the question was whether in the last -- the 2014 cost of service application and settlement was a -- whether a hundred percent revenue to cost ratio for embedded distributors was included in the settlement.

And then secondly, whether a cost allocation model was done at that time and, if so, what the revenue to cost ratios indicated.  And then specifically what did the cost allocation model indicate for the embedded distributor class, i.e. was it a hundred percent or was it higher, closer to the top boundary.

MR. BACON:  Yes, I understand and it's best to deal with an undertaking.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, thank you. And now just a couple of questions about some of the information we heard this morning in the opening statements, particularly Ms. Hughes' opening statement discussing anticipated industrial load growth in the east side lands of Cambridge, and the potential for this load being served either by new feeders for an upgraded Preston transformer station, or the feeders which are currently dedicated to TMMC.  


Now, in VECC interrogatory -- I wonder if we can call that one up on the screen.  It's VECC interrogatory 6, response to TMMC.

MS. HUGHES:  Sorry, can we clarify that reference?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, TMMC I guess would have been -- VECC interrogatory 6 to TMMC dated October 25th, and the response to VECC's -- TMMC's response to VECC.  Things are so much easier now that we have gone all digital with documents, aren't they?  Okay.  So go forward.  This is interrogatory 1, so just...

MR. VELLONE:  You're going to 6, right?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes.

MS. HUGHES:  I think it's on page 7 of 26.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So one of the questions in that interrogatory was about whether there's any agreement for the feeders for TMMC being dedicated, and the response was that there is an operating agreement dated December 9, 1999 and updated in December 2015, and they both provide for TMMC service as being provided by dedicated feeders.

The response also indicates that, you know, for technical reasons the addition of other customers on this line is not practical because of protection equipment that has been installed.  And this precludes the addition of other loads to the line.

So my first question is about this operating agreement and whether this is considered -- well, first of all, I see it was updated December 2015.  Is it still in effect or has it expired?

MR. SINCLAIR:  I believe it has technically expired.  We still continue with that arrangement today in practice, but the agreement, I believe, is actually expired.  We could confirm that.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Can you confirm when that expired?

MR. SINCLAIR:  We could.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Mark that as an undertaking.  J1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5:  TO CONFIRM WHEN THE OPERATING AGREEMENT EXPIRED.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And was it replaced by another agreement or are you just continuing on the basis of the previous agreement that is now expired?

MR. SINCLAIR:  Just continuing on the basis of the previous agreement.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Has -- well, let me just get right to the point.  So, you know, the discussion was there is a new customer anticipated and it is possible to supply that customer using the -- and there's capacity on the TMMC feeders.  Is this a feasible option or is it out of the question for any particular reason?

MR. SINCLAIR:  What we were trying to point out is that with using direct allocation there are factors that don't get accounted for in terms of cost.  From a strictly technical point of view, we have two feeders constructed in the field, and by configuration we have set them up such that they can only supply the Toyota plant.  But that is really due to the setup in terms of the normally closed operation of the feeder tie and the protection settings on the relays at Preston TS.

We could, at very little cost, convert those feeders into our normal supply arrangement, which is a radial feed from the station to the end of the line with normal over-current protection.

As my colleague Sarah Hughes pointed out, it is certainly not our plan to do it.  The setup as it exists supplies the Toyota facility in the best way possible and that is how it was fully engineered back in the mid-1990s when the supply was contemplated.

But what we are trying to get across is that some of the costs are not necessarily readily apparent when we do direct allocation because there is capacity on those two feeders that could be utilized to service other customers with very minor technical changes to the configuration as it exists today.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And I do understand the point that was being made about the cost of the lost opportunity, if you could put it that way, of serving another customer with those feeders.

But as a practical matter, if you did have a customer that you could serve using these feeders and that is not dedicated only just for Toyota, and it was more cost-effective for both customers -- well, let me ask you that. Could it be more, would it be more cost-effective for both customers rather than each one having their own dedicated feeders or other facilities?

MR. SINCLAIR:  It's hard to say for both customers.  Certainly to connect the new customer it would be less costly for us as a utility to supply them, because the feeders would be much closer to that customer because geographically they're already very close to the area that is expected for significant growth in the east-side lands.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you very much to the witnesses.  Those are all my questions.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Ms. Djurdjevic.

Now, Ms. Newland, would you like to proceed?  And once again I realize that you're not scheduled -- were not scheduled until the next day, so I am not going to force you to proceed, but if you want to proceed you can go as far as you wish and we will continue it tomorrow.

MS. NEWLAND:  Why don't we do that, sir.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MS. NEWLAND:  Mr. Chairman, I unfortunately will be referring to some confidential information.  I will -- starting with the very first exhibit that I want to take the panel to, and so would request that we go in camera.  It may well be that that will be the end of it.  I have tried to stay away from citing specific confidential data, but the schematics that I want to refer the panel to at the start of my cross-examination are particularly sensitive from a security point of view, and we would not want them to be disclosed.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, so we are going to go in camera, and you are going to be advising us when you have ceased to refer to confidential data.

MS. NEWLAND:  That's correct, sir.
--- On commencing in camera at 3:19 p.m.

[Page 147, line 20 to page 174, line 23

Have been redacted.]

[Page 147, line 20 to page 174, line 23


Have been redacted.]
--- On resuming public session at 4:05 p.m.


MS. NEWLAND:  Okay, thank you, sir.  I would like to just talk a little bit about the large use class.

So we know from your testimony earlier there are two customers in the large use class, correct?

So two customers in the large use class.  There's various confidential information on the written record about the size of Toyota's load.  I don't think that there is comparable information about the size of the load of the other customer, although I think you gave a 4 NCP estimate, and we were able to kind of figure it out.

But would I be correct if I were to say that the Toyota load is larger than the load of the other customer by about a factor of at least 4 -- without disclosing what Toyota's load is on air?

MS. HUGHES:  Yes, that's right.

MS. NEWLAND:  And my understanding as well -- and I don't know where I got this, but is that the other customer's on the edge or the threshold for being a customer in the large use class.  It could easily fall into the class below, or it is possible that it could fall into the class below.

MS. HUGHES:  Based on an annual review of that customer, we have not disclosed any information of that nature, I don't believe, on the record.

MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  I am dreaming this stuff now.  I think it's sufficient just to say that Toyota's a much bigger load, and you have said by at least a factor of 4.

MS. HUGHES:  Yes.

MS. NEWLAND:  Can you describe generally how the other large use customer receives its supply?

MS. HUGHES:  So I will turn that over to Mr. Sinclair.

MR. SINCLAIR:  Yes, the other large use customer is supplied by a shared feeder from the Galt transformer station supplying customers of many other types, residential customers, other general service customers.  It's a shared feeder.  It's a typical utility configuration.  There's a normal open point to another 27.6 kV feeder.  It's a typical arrangement of supply for many of our customers.

MS. NEWLAND:  So it is integrated into the integrated Energy+ system?

MR. SINCLAIR:  That is correct.

MS. NEWLAND:  In a way that Toyota is not?

MR. SINCLAIR:  Correct.

MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  I'd like to move on to talk about cost allocation.  Mr. Rubenstein asked some of my questions, but let me start with asking you if you would agree that one of the main objectives of the cost allocation study is to assess the reasonableness or the fairness of customer rates in relation to their allocated costs.

Mr. Bacon, I think this question is for you.

MR. BACON:  Yes, I'd agree to that.

MS. NEWLAND:  I am glad, because it was direct quote from a document that I am sure you had a part in authoring back in the early 2000s.

And then a fundamental principle of cost allocation is that it should reflect costs causality.

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MS. NEWLAND:  And that from a theoretical perspective, the methodology that best reflects cost causality is one that recognizes which facilities serves which customer and directly assigns the costs of these facilities to that customer from a theoretical perspective?

MR. BACON:  I would say facilities that service the class.

MS. NEWLAND:  Okay, you would say that.  We could come back to that, because we disagree with that interpretation.

MR. BACON:  I know, I understand that.

MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  And in the real world, there are factors that limit or constrain the ability to match facilities to specific customers or a specific class.

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  And one of those limitations is where facilities are shared?

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MS. NEWLAND:  So any cost allocation methodology has to strike a balance between adherence to strict cost causation and what I would refer to as practical considerations.

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MS. NEWLAND:  I want to refer you to tab -- a tab in my compendium, which I will disclose shortly.  I think it's tab 8.

Tab 8 is an excerpt from a Board direction on cost allocation methodology for electricity distributors, and it was issued in Board proceeding EB-2005-0317, and it was issued in September of 2006.  Do you remember that, Mr. Bacon?

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  And although the Board has issued other cost allocation reports since that time on specific cost allocation issues, such as street lighting, and revenue to cost ratios, and microFIT programs, the 2006 Board direction remains sort of the overall rulebook.  Would you agree?

MR. BACON:  No, I wouldn't agree.

MS. NEWLAND:  Why is that?

MR. BACON:  Because I think is -- a guide -- it was used, this specific report was used to develop the first informational filings, which were then used to set policy.  So some use this as a guideline, but I don't see this as a direct Board policy on cost allocation.

MS. NEWLAND:  You don't have to respond to this, but you could.  Would your answer be any different if I told you that I had checked with Board Staff and received a confirmation that this was the general applicable rulebook?  I am not trying to --


MR. BACON:  Okay.  That wasn't my understanding, but...

MS. NEWLAND:  This is my understanding, so we have different understandings, okay.

So in this, in this Board direction, there is a chapter in my compendium called "direct allocation".  If this -- I just want to test your answer a little bit.  If this report is not the overarching rule book, where else can I find the Board's views on direct allocation?

MR. BACON:  I don't know where you can find it.

MS. NEWLAND:  So since this is the only thing I know, we're going to talk about it.

MR. BACON:  What I am getting at is I don't know if the Board has a policy on direct allocation, because I am not sure it came out of the process.  Now, there might be, but not to my knowledge.

MS. NEWLAND:  So I can tell you that I have spent way more of my time than I would like to looking for this and looking at every single document that's been issued on cost allocation since about 2002, and I was not able to find anything on direct allocation other than this direction.

MR. BACON:  Right, okay.

MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.

MR. BACON:  And I would agree with that.

MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  I'd like to start by going to page 31 of the direction and reading the direction and then having a discussion with you, Mr. Bacon, about how you and Mr. Pollock and Toyota disagree or have different views on the application of direct allocation.

So the direction of the Board on direct allocation is highlighted on page 31 under heading 5.2.  Is everybody with me?  Okay.  And I will just read it into the record.  It's only one sentence.  It says:

"Direct allocation must", and I put the emphasis on "must", "be applied if, and only if, 100 percent of the use of a clearly identifiable and significant distribution facility can be tracked to a single rate classification."

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MS. NEWLAND:  Do you see that?

MR. BACON:  Yes, I see that.

MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  So I want to take you back now to the background on the previous page under 5.1 in the highlighted paragraph, and it says when you are doing a cost allocation the initial step is to identify significant -- so it's the initial step, it's the first step in your cost allocation exercise.  You identify any significant distribution facilities that are dedicated exclusively to only one customer rate classification.  It doesn't say, Mr. Bacon, that it has to be dedicated to each customer in the rate classification, it said that you have to find a link between the dedicated facility and a class; correct?

MR. BACON:  And my interpretation is it's to the class.

MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  I just wanted to point the next paragraph out.  It's not pertinent to our current discussion --


MR. BACON:  I think by definition we are going to have a disagreement on this.

MS. NEWLAND:  I think we are, but I need to go through this with you, Mr. Bacon.

MR. BACON:  Okay.

MS. NEWLAND:  In the third paragraph on page 30, there are many references in an example to a large customer, and it says:
"For instance, there may be a situation where a facility, most likely a conductor, is directly assignable to a large customer" -- not class, customer -- "as the feeder provides service to only the large customer under normal circumstances."

Actually, that would reflect Toyota's situation; correct?

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MS. NEWLAND:  "However, under emergency circumstances
there is access to backup service provided through other facilities on the distributor's integrated system.  Under this situation, it is other facilities on the distributor's integrated system" -- sorry -- "under this situation, it is appropriate to charge this large customer for a share of the facilities providing this redundancy or backup, along with the full cost of the directly assignable facilities."

So here we see the concept being introduced of directly assigning dedicated feeders as well as allocating a cost of the shared -- the pooled costs -- allocating a share of the pooled costs associated with the backup service; correct?

MR. BACON:  That's what it says.

MS. NEWLAND:  And again, at the bottom of page 30 we have three examples where the -- that are shown as circumstances where it might be appropriate to directly allocate costs, and one of the circumstances is a feeder that is 100 percent dedicated to customers, customer or customers, in the same classification.

MR. BACON:  Again, we are disagreeing --


MS. NEWLAND:  You're -- you're --


MR. BACON:  -- I would reclassify that as a rate class --


MS. NEWLAND:  Okay, okay.  And over on page 31 -- and I am not going to read this, but there is a discussion at the first two paragraphs on page 31 talk about -- this is the Board's response to arguments that were made at the time, that maybe you didn't -- maybe you could have direct assignment in cases where there wasn't 100 percent dedication of the facility, but close enough, like 90 percent, and the Board went through these arguments and they rejected the arguments and they said we are going to stick with the 100 percent test, so 100 percent of any particular facility.

But in the course of setting out their rebuttal they talk about one facility to serve a customer, so the word "customer" is used, but I also agree, Mr. Bacon, that the word "customer classification" is used.

So if there were 30 customers in a class, are you saying that you -- and not all of them were served by dedicated facilities -- are you saying that you would never directly assign costs?

MR. BACON:  Not --


MS. NEWLAND:  And that is because why?  Because you say that this is not the rule book, so obviously your reason isn't because the rule book tells you you can't.  So what is your reason?

MR. BACON:  My understanding of the rule book is that you allocate costs to the class, and the costs of the -- the directly allocated costs have to be attributable to the class, not just to one or two customers in the class.  That's the way I would -- that's the way I read these guidelines.

MS. NEWLAND:  But you -- you are going to hear from Mr. Pollock, not surprisingly, that he disagrees with your interpretation.

MR. BACON:  I know --


MS. NEWLAND:  But I don't think Mr. Pollock's opinion is going to be based on this rule book, his opinion is going to be based on general principles of cost allocation.  I am trying to understand whether your objection to direct assignment in the case where not every customer in the class is served by dedicated facilities, does it stem from your interpretation of this rule book?

MR. BACON:  First of all, I would like to make it clear, I am not an expert in this proceeding, all right?

MS. NEWLAND:  No, I understand that, Mr. Bacon --


MR. BACON:  So --


MS. NEWLAND:  -- but you are way more expert than I.

MR. BACON:  I understand that.  But my opinion is based on my experience in this particular area that I have been -- and I -- there's been like -- I can't say that I have done a lot of direct allocation cases, but in the cases that I have done it's been direct allocation to the class, and it's based on my experience.

MS. NEWLAND:  Okay, that's fair.  So I think you have answered my question why you didn't directly assign -- why you have never directly assigned the costs of the dedicated feeders in the large-use class, because you can have direct assignment, in my submission, in -- to a class -- this is not a one class versus two class issue right now, it's, we were wondering why you hadn't directly assigned the costs of the feeders historically, and I think your answer is because not both customers were served by dedicated feeders.

MS. HUGHES:  That's right, and I would say that's true.  And we also in preparing this application have gone back to look at how we have done this historically as well, and that has been consistently the way in which we've applied the cost allocation.  And so it certainly was not a direct focus of further investigation done by us as part of this application.

MS. NEWLAND:  If I can have a moment, Mr. Chair.

Has the other customer in the large-use class, the other non-TMMC customer, always been in that class?

MS. HUGHES:  For as long as I think the panel recalls.  And we have one member who has been around for a while.

MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you, Ms. Hughes.  So, Mr. Bacon, if the Board were to grant the request of TMMC that there be a separate class established for it, would you directly assign the dedicated facilities, the cost of the dedicated facilities?

MR. BACON:  I would do what the Board ordered me to do.

MS. NEWLAND:  Obviously you would.  But if you were asked by your client what you would recommend as a matter of proper rate design and cost allocation, would you directly assign the costs?

MR. BACON:  Of the feeder?

MS. NEWLAND:  Of the feeder, which includes all the associated.

MR. BACON:  Yes, I could see a good case for that.

MS. NEWLAND:  Okay, and what about -- okay.  I wanted to turn -- I have a few questions about your cost allocation model, and it's going to be an unequal discussion, Mr. Bacon, because it's your model and I approach it with great trepidation.

And my focus obviously is going to be on the large use class of that model.  So we've had a discussion before with respect to underground and bulk assets, and we see that the large use class has been assigned a portion of the pooled costs related to the bulk assets, so the two transformer stations owned by Energy+, correct?

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MS. NEWLAND:  And the large use class has also been assigned a share of the underground facilities, correct?

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MS. NEWLAND:  And I am not going to waste time at the end of the afternoon asking people to turn up a response.  I would just ask you to confirm that there are interrogatory responses on the record that confirm that neither customer in the large use class are served using bulk assets, or underground assets?

MR. BACON:  And I could probably -- I can agree with that, but you could say that for other customers in other classes.

MS. NEWLAND:  The focus of my question is the large use class.  Okay.

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MS. NEWLAND:  So I just want to ask you, just to be clear, it's not only Toyota that doesn't have supply -- is not supplied using bulk facilities underground, it's both customers in the class?

I can ask you to accept, subject to check, but I have checked this.

MR. SINCLAIR:  It's normally true.  Where you always have to have the caveat is the other large use customer, in the event that we lose the Galt transformer station, which has happened in our memory -- like we have lost completely the Galt transformer station during a severe ice wind storm, for instance -- we, for a period of time, temporarily supplied all the customers supplied off the Galt transformer station by our MTS 1 and our Preston TS.

So there are situations where even though that other large use customer is normally supplied, and most of the time by far, 99.something percent of the time by Galt TS, it isn't necessarily all the time because there are contingencies that occur on our distribution system that require us to feed customers in an abnormal manner.

MS. NEWLAND:  And with respect -- I recall reading a response to an interrogatory that said none of your primary facility -- your customers receiving primary distribution service took service from underground facilities.

So that would include both customers in the large use class, correct?

MR. SINCLAIR:  Yes, they are supplied by overhead feeders, both of them.

MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  And yet the class itself is assigned a share of underground facilities.  Why is that?

MR. BACON:  Because that's the design of the cost allocation model.  There's various costs that go to various classes that not every customer in that class uses those particular facilities.  That's just the way it is.

I mean, that's the way the model worked.

MS. NEWLAND:  But no one in the class is using underground facilities.

MR. BACON:  And there's other people in the room that may know more about a cost allocation model than I do, but it my understanding that you cannot -- the model is not designed to allocate underground and overhead differently to various classes.

MS. NEWLAND:  So my next question is this: Cost allocation is principally supposed to be driven, as I understand it, by cost causation and we had a discussion about that.

But what I am hearing you are saying is that the construct of the model determines what you do as opposed to your actions being determined by cost causality.

MR. BACON:  I would say that, yes, the construct of the model pretty much guides how costs are allocated to the classes.

MS. NEWLAND:  So it's possible that the construct of the model does not properly recognize cost causation?

MR. BACON:  Possible, yes.  I think -- there are things in the cost allocation model that it deals with, like for instance the difference between primary and secondary, and using line transformers.  It does not do underground and overhead allocation to class based on the use of underground and overhead by the class.

I don't recall if we actually had that discussion when we worked on it.  We probably did, and for some reason, it was not built into the model.

MS. NEWLAND:  Thank you, Mr. Bacon.  Would there be a work-around to be able to do it within the current model, to sort of not assign costs to a class where none of the customers in the class use that particular account -- assets in a particular account?  Can you find a work- around?

MR. BACON:  I could probably work around; yes, I could -- we would have to do it for every class and we don't have the information for every class.  So, I think it would be difficult.  I don't think it's impossible, but it would be difficult.

MS. NEWLAND:  Just sticking with the underground example as opposed to other asset classes that may not be used by a particular customer class, you do know which of your classes use underground and which don't, right?

MR. SINCLAIR:  It's not an easy thing to do.  It's not something -- it's not a record that we have maintained in terms of being able to, at a very detailed level, determine which customers use which specific assets on our system.  We do --


MS. NEWLAND:  I think my question -- the focus of my question, Mr. Sinclair, was really which customer classes use particular classes of assets.  And the reason we got to that point was we were having -- you agreed that none of your primary distribution customers who -- customers served just with primary distribution, not with secondary.  None of those customers are served through underground; that's on the record.  So you already have that information.

And so then my question to Mr. Bacon was could you take that information and could you find a work-around to reflect that information in your cost allocation model, if the Board were to ask you to do it.

MR. SINCLAIR:  And I guess I would say that certainly we would know, for instance, the residential class as an example uses underground.  Where it would be quite difficult would be for us to figure out what portion of our asset value of our underground plant belongs to residential versus general service less than 50-kilowatt versus general service greater than 50-kilowatt.

For most of the other classes, they would use underground assets, most -- like in the residential, definitely underground; general service less than 50, definitely some of the customers use underground; general service greater than 50, definitely some of the customers use underground.  But determining what portion of those underground assets, because they are all pooled, like, we charge our assets to underground conductors, to underground conduits, we don't have that granularity in our financial system to say that for X number of residential customers the value of those underground assets is Y.  It would be of --


MS. NEWLAND:  Can I just -- I don't mean to be rude, but I just want to make sure we are on the same page in terms of what I am asking.  We are not talking about a direct assignment exercise here, we are talking about whether or not pooled costs from a certain asset class are allocated to a particular customer class.  So you wouldn't need to know values on a class.

MR. BACON:  I think some of the challenges is -- and the engineering people, correct me if I am wrong -- that there's issues where a customer can use the overhead, there's a customer can use the underground, and then they can use both.

MR. SINCLAIR:  Yes.

MR. BACON:  And so it gets really complicated about how to do that, and --


MS. NEWLAND:  Cost allocation is complicated, I agree.

I am not going to pursue this any further.  But I have one last question in this area, and it's just, you are not allocating the cost of bulk assets or the cost of underground assets to the embedded distributors.  Why not?

MR. BACON:  That's based on precedent that's been set for at least in the last two cost-of-service applications in Cambridge and now in Energy+.  It's a precedent that was set.

MS. NEWLAND:  And I don't mean to get into an area where the Board has ruled it's an issue out of scope, but I was only raising it as being analogous to the large-use class that doesn't use those assets either.  So the large-use class customers are getting charged for bulk and underground and we don't use them, but the embedded distributors don't use them either, and they are not getting charged, so it's a fairness issue.  I am not trying to suggest that the embedded distributors should be allocated those costs, I am just pointing out, and wouldn't you agree it's a fairness issue, Mr. Bacon?

MR. BACON:  I think I have answered the question.

MS. NEWLAND:  Okay, thank you.

Mr. Chair, I have -- I mean, if I was given to 5:15 I could finish, or I could start again tomorrow.  I don't know how -- whether the panel needs a break.  I am in your hands.

MR. JANIGAN:  I think we prefer to start tomorrow, Ms. Newland.

MS. NEWLAND:  That's fine.  Thank you, sir.  I would like to thank the panel for their patience.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, everyone.  We are adjourned to 9:30 tomorrow morning.  Oh, before you go, I wonder if the parties could confer with Board Staff as to an appropriate argument schedule, so that we may be able to fix that before we go tomorrow.

MS. NEWLAND:  Certainly, sir.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thanks very much.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:36 p.m.
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